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On behalf of Tennis Ireland, it gives me great pleasure to 
welcome the delegates to today’s Annual General Meeting. 

It has been my privilege to be President of Tennis Ireland for 
the last year.  It has been a very exciting and productive year 
to be involved in Tennis in Ireland and this annual review 
showcases the work that has been delivered throughout 
the country. 

I have many highlights from the past year. I have visited 
over ninety clubs, large and small in all 4 provinces and the 
reception I have received was, without exception, fantastic. 
I am always delighted, but never surprised to see the great 
work that takes place in our clubs and Provincial Branches 
and the funding received via the Sports Capital Programme 
this year is clear recognition of the contribution that Tennis 
makes to communities throughout Ireland.

While our Davis and Fed Cup adventures may not have 
ended the way we would have hoped, the efforts of our 
players and their Captain’s cannot be faulted. 

We are an organisation that has a relatively small staff. It 
it is crucial that we can get volunteers to support them as 
well as being supported by them and moving forward good 
communication is going to be crucial.

We have hosted some great events this year, most notably 
the hosting of the Four Nations Super Seniors, the World 
Blind Tennis Championships and the combined Men’s and 
Ladies Irish Open for the first time in many years.  But, there 
have also been great events run at club and provincial level 
also. It has been truly inspiring to see players of all ages and 
abilities playing our sport and to witness the enjoyment 
they derive from it.

The coming years will, I hope, bring more great events 
and opportunities for our sport to grow.  A new strategy 
has been finalised and I’m hoping that its delivery will be 
supported by all of our stakeholders.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank all 
those people who supported me this year including 
my family, the Tennis Ireland Staff and the wider tennis 
community and I look forward to working with you all  
this year.

Clifford Carroll  
President

Message from  
President Clifford Carroll
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A theme over the course of the last year has been that 
of change, changes in management, changes in how we 
deliver for our clubs and players, both recreational and high 
performers, changes in how we embrace and manage our 
key stakeholders and the need to consider change within 
Tennis in Ireland. Indeed, at today’s Annual General Meeting 
we will also have significant changes to the make-up of  
the board.

For some, this change may not be coming quick enough,  
for others it may be coming too quickly.

Change is not something that comes easily to representative 
organisations such as Tennis Ireland or to any sport 
where there are, of course, disparate views as to how the 
sport should respond to changes not only in the tennis 
environment but in society. 

There are many great things happening in Irish Tennis at  
all levels of the game through the hard work of volunteers in 
clubs, Parks and schools with the support and partnership  
of our Provincial Branches and the team in the Tennis Ireland 
Head Office and many of these activities are outlined in this 
review of the year.

However, there is only one certainty and that is that 
“standing still” in a changing environment is not a long-
term option or credible strategy. The challenge for everyone 
involved in Irish Tennis, voluntary and professional, is how 
to embrace and lead change in a coherent and strategic 
manner and how to vision beyond the sometimes narrow 
and parochial, for the benefit of the game nationally across 
the island.

For the last number of months, we have been working with 
our consultants, Pinta, and a wide range of stakeholders to 
finalise a strategic plan that will provide a pathway for all 
involved in Irish Tennis for the next four years.

This plan is not my plan, but it is a reflection of the wishes, 
requirements and in some cases, demands from the Tennis 
Community who expressed their views through the wide-
ranging consultation process from which the objectives 

within it were formed. I would like to take this opportunity  
to thank everyone involved for their input into the strategy. 

It is vital for the success of our sport that it is not just given 
token support but is embraced in full so that we can ensure 
that our sport has a solid platform and direction from which 
our sport can inspire and connect people of all ages and 
backgrounds to play, compete, achieve, enjoy and be part of 
Tennis in Ireland.

Finally, I would also like to thank the Board of Directors, the 
Branch Councils and the staff of our organisation for their 
dedication to our sport and for their personal assistance and 
support to me over the last year.

Richard Fahey  
Chief Executive

Chief Executives 
Foreword



Relationships
One of the key areas of focus for Tennis 
Ireland in 2017 and will continue 
to be so is the development and 
management of relationships with our 
key stakeholders.

Significant efforts have been made in 
the last year in this regard and outlined 
are some of the key engagements 
and benefits that have accrued 
from successfully managing these 
relationships

Government
The Government are our most 
important external stakeholder and 
there have been considerable efforts 
to ensure that our relationship with the 
various Government Departments that 
we engage with are as strong as they 
can be.

The key Government Department that 
we engage with is the Department 
of Transport, Tourism and Sport who 
allocate funding via the Sports Capital 
Programme and allocate funding to 
Sport Ireland who in turn distribute it to 
the various National Governing Bodies 
including Tennis Ireland. 

Tennis Ireland undertook every 
opportunity to engage with the 
Department both directly and indirectly 
in the last year. Funding from the 
Department of just under €25,000 
was expended on the provision of 
wheelchairs for the Enjoy Tennis 
Programme, equipment for the 
Provincial and National Academy 
Programmes and to pilot a MisHits 
Programme in a number of clubs.

The Chairman, David Barber and myself 
met with Minister Brendan Griffin during 

2017 in order to advocate on behalf of 
Tennis Ireland and its affiliated clubs as 
part of our efforts to secure additional 
funding for the sport and in particular via 
the Sports Capital Programme through 
which €3.2m was allocated to Tennis.

Tennis Ireland is very grateful to Minister’s 
Griffin and Minister Ross and the staff at 
the Department of Transport, Tourism 
and Sport for their assistance and support 
over the last year.

The opportunity to meet with other 
Ministers and Public Representatives 
was also high on the agenda and many 
conversations with them were held 
on site at local clubs who showcased 
not only their development plans but 
also their role in engaging with their 
local communities and their role in 
contributing towards the health of the 
nation.

Pobal
Pobal is a government agency that acts as 
an intermediary for programmes funded 
by the Irish Government and the EU.

Operational Review

They do this by supporting groups and 
communities across the country that 
are applying for, or receiving, funding 
for specific programmes. In 2017, 
Tennis Ireland received €38,000 via 
Pobal towards the delivery of Tennis 
Programmes for people with disabilities 
as part of the Enjoy Tennis Programme.

There are many challenges facing 
Irish Sport at the moment and the 
increasing regulatory environment for 
National Governing Bodies and clubs 
is one of those challenges. Regulatory 
programmes relating to Safeguarding, 
Governance and most recently GDPR 
are worthy causes which Tennis Ireland 
supports, however, the implementation 
of these programmes places significant 
financial and human resource 
challenges for Governing Bodies and 
Clubs, particularly when core funding 
levels are lower than what Tennis Ireland 
received in 2008. 

Tennis Ireland was one of three 
Governing Bodies to be invited to 
present to Minister Griffin at a gathering 
of the 65 National Governing Bodies 
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of Sport at the National Sports 
Campus in March to highlight the 
challenges facing NGB

,
s in this regard. 

Tennis Ireland was also invited to 
give evidence at the Joint Oireachtas 
Committee for Transport Tourism 
and Sport relating to the allocation of 
Capital and Current funding for sport.

Project 2024
Tennis Ireland welcomes the 
Government

,
s long-term commitment 

to the development of sport in 
Ireland as outlined in its Project 2040 
Development Plan published recently. 
In particular, Tennis Ireland welcomes 
the commitment to;

 • A Sports Capital Fund of €100 
million over the next 4 years

 • The completion of the National 
Sports Campus by 2021 with more 
new facilities for sports such as 
cricket and tennis

 • A new Large Scale Infrastructure 
Fund of €100 million for larger 
sports projects.

While the commitment to funding 
of facilities is very welcome and 
undoubtedly will positively transform 
the sporting landscape, we remain 
conscious however of the importance 
of the availability of qualified people 
and targeted programmes to allow 
the potential of any sports facility 
to be maximised. In this regard, I will 
continue to work on behalf of our 
members and our sport to ensure that 
the current funding that plays a crucial 
role in supporting these people and 
programmes increases in the  
coming years.

Sport Ireland
As outlined, current funding for Irish 
Sports organisations is distributed via 
Sport Ireland. The funding allocated 
to Tennis Ireland is utilised to support 
the delivery of key programmes and 
activities that are delivered locally, 
regionally and nationally. 

In 2017, Tennis Ireland was allocated 
€353,000 in core funding and 
secured an additional allocation of 
€179,000 towards the delivery of our 
Performance Programmes. A further 
allocation of €10,000 was secured 
to attract and maintain female 
participation in the sport via a schools 
tennis initiative which is being rolled 
out in secondary schools.

Tennis Ireland also received an 
additional allocation to support Simon 
Carr who played in the 4 Junior Grand 
Slam events in 2017. 

While Sport Ireland
,
s allocation for 

NGB
,
s from Government remained 

static for 2018, we nonetheless, have 
managed to secure a slight increase  
in funding for 2018. 

There has been significant 
engagement with Sport Ireland in the 
last year and Tennis Ireland has been 
chosen to pilot the roll out of a new 
online Safeguarding platform that will 
commence operation this year. 

In the summer of 2017, Sport Ireland 
commenced a new investment process 
in an effort to provide clarity to sports 
of their likely investment over the 
medium term and, through self-
assessment and consultation, highlight 
key areas that the sport should address 
in order to drive progress in  
their system. 

All recognised high performance sports 
were invited to submit a self-assessed 
proposal according to how they 
rate against the Sport Ireland

,
s High 

Performance Investment Principles.

In conjunction with our High 
Performance Director, Garry Cahill, we 
prepared a comprehensive submission 
to Sport Ireland which was well 
received and we have secured a Special 
Status rating from them in this regard. 
This Special Status takes account of 
our specific circumstances, in that 
Olympic participation may not be the 
priority for our players and the need to 
focus services on emerging talent and 
emerging pro players.

5
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The development of the National Sports 
Campus has been one of the great 
Irish sporting investments in the last 
number of years and Tennis Ireland has 
had preliminary discussions with Sport 
Ireland in relation to relocating to the 
Campus both administratively as well  
as technically. While discussions are  
at an early stage, it is hoped that  
they will progress in the coming  
months.

Tennis Ireland would like to extend its 
appreciation to Sport Ireland Chairman 
Kieran Mulvey and Chief Executive John 
Treacy for their ongoing support.

Sport Northern Ireland (Sport NI)
Sport Northern Ireland is the leading 
public body for the development of 
sport in Northern Ireland and both 
Tennis Ireland and the Ulster Branch 
of Tennis Ireland regularly engage with 
them in relation to the development 
and delivery of the sport in  
Northern Ireland. 

In 2017 Sport NI allocated funding 
towards key programmes relating to  
its Sporting Clubs and Sporting  
Winners Investment Programme  
2017 – 2021. 

The Sporting Clubs / Sporting 
Winners Investment Programme is 
a multi annual funding programme 
that commenced in early 2017 and 
comprises of three strands:

Strand 1 has the operating title of 
Effective Organisations and relates  
to the Governance of Sporting Bodies, 
while Strand 2 is defined as Sporting 
Clubs, which aims to enable more 
people to develop and reach their 
sporting goals through a  
structured environment.

Unfortunately, Sport NI chose not to 
provide funding to the Ulster Branch 
under its Sporting Winners Programme 
which aims to help more Northern 
Ireland athletes to win at the highest 
level. There were a number of sports 

that were disappointed with their 
allocations under this programme  
and while the Ulster Branch did appeal 
the allocation it was unsuccessful.

The reduction in funding is proving 
challenging to the Ulster Branch who 
have had to manage their resources and 
activities on a more prudent basis.

Our UBTI based Development Officer, 
Lauren Smythe, along with myself and 
the Officers of the Ulster Branch work 
closely to manage the relationship  
with Sport NI.

Sport NI also announced a a new capital 
grants programme for Multi Sport 
Facilities is managed and administered 
by Sport Northern Ireland. 

Tennis Ireland supported two 
applications to this programme, the first 
for Belfast Boat Club and the second for 
the Bawnacre Leisure Centre.

Tennis Ireland and the Ulster Branch are 
very grateful for the assistance provided 
by Sport NI.

International Tennis Federation 
The level of engagement and 
relationship with the International 
Tennis Federation has improved 
greatly in the past year. For the first 
time in many years, Tennis Ireland 
now has a representative on an ITF 
Committee with David Barber having 
been successfully nominated to the ITF 
Seniors Committee.

In 2017, a delegation from Tennis 
Ireland visited the ITF offices in London 
in order to get a clear understanding of 
the support and assistance available for 
Federations like Ireland. A further visit  
to the ITF was made in March in order  
to present the draft Strategy for Tennis 
in Ireland. 

The level of support and assistance that 
has been made available to smaller 
Federations has increased significantly 
under the leadership of ITF President 
David Haggerty. 

A new range of  Assistance programmes 
relating to the development of coaches, 
funding for the development of facilities 
as well as increased support for playing 
Davis Cup and Fed Cup events are now 
being availed by Tennis Ireland. 

ITF Development Officer Vitor Cabral 
visited Ireland in April underlining, once 
again, the close relationship that has 
been built with the ITF over the last year. 

During his visit, Vitor engaged with the 
Tennis Ireland staff, meeting them over 
2 days, to hear of the progress Tennis 
Ireland is making and to provide input 
into future projects and plans. The visit 
also focused specifically on how the 
ITF and Tennis Europe will be able to 
assist in the implementation of these 
plans. The areas of discussion included; 
Facility Development, Coach Education, 
Growing Participation, Player Support, 
Special Projects and Tennis Ireland’s 
soon to be launched Strategic Plan for 
Tennis in Ireland.

A meeting was also held with the new 
Chief Executive of the Olympic Council 
of Ireland, Peter Sherrard, to discuss 
areas of interest relating to support for 
our current top players, our emerging 
talent and coaches.

Vitor also visited Carrickmines, Sutton, 
Portmarnock and Malahide Tennis Clubs 
and was clearly impressed, not only with 
the facilities, but the activities taking 
place during his visit.

In recent weeks we are delighted that 
the ITF, has following an application 
process, agreed to provide $50,000 
in funding towards the upgrading of 
courts at the National Tennis Centre. 
A further $10,000 to support Ammar 
Elamin’s travel programme as well as 
financial support to bring international 
Coaching expertise to Ireland in 
order to assist us with the roll out of a 
programme of continuous professional 
development for our Regional, Provincial 
and Academy coaches. 
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Tennis Europe
Like the ITF, it is important that Tennis 
Ireland is represented at Committee 
level within Tennis Europe in order 
to be fully aware of the support and 
assistance available and to influence 
the development of Tennis in Europe. 
Further to this, I was appointed to the 
Tennis Europe Development Committee 
in August 2017 and have attended two 
meetings to date. 

Tennis Ireland has contributed to the 
development of the new Tennis Europe 
Strategy which is due to be completed 
imminently and under the leadership of 
new CEO Thomas Hammerl and it will 
be interesting to see how Tennis Europe 
can support the development of Tennis 
into the future

I’m also sitting on the Tennis Europe 
Padel Task Force which is looking at 
how Padel and Tennis can successfully 
co-exist.

Local Authorities 
Local Authorities are a key partner 
for Tennis Ireland and its constituent 
clubs. They provide land for club 
developments, support for capital 

projects and funding for the delivery  
of our many programmes and events.

Without their support many clubs and 
Tennis programmes would cease to 
exist, and significant efforts have been 
made this year to engage further  
with them. 

Fingal County Council, for example, 
continue to support the delivery of 
Tennis within Fingal. They co fund the 
cost of our Development Officer, Tara 
Congdon, and provide seed funding 
for programmes such as the Fingal 
League, Schools Tennis Programmes, 
Parks Tennis and also supported the 
running of the ITF Junior Tournament in 
Malahide and their Club Support Grants 
are a welcome addition to fundraising 
activities of our clubs in the area.

Dublin City Council have invested 
significantly in the fabulous 
redevelopment of Bushy Park Tennis 
Club which is one of our most recently 
affiliated clubs. They also invested in 
the redevelopment of Ellenfield Park 
redeveloping 3 courts and lights. 

In terms of current funding, Dublin City 
Council supported the delivery of the 
2017 AIG Irish Open and the 2018 Four 
Nations Super Seniors Tournament. 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown County 
Council are another local authority 
that actively supports our sport. In the 
last year they have provided significant 
funding towards the running of the DLR 
International Tennis Championships 
and the recently held World Blind Tennis 
Championships which were held at 
Shankill Tennis Club who have also 
benefited hugely from the assistance  
of the Council.

Funding for the 2017 ITF Junior event 
in Dundalk was secured from Louth 
County Council and Belfast City Council 
have been a generous funder of the 
Belfast ITF Junior Tournament as well 
as supporting the delivery of key 
participation programmes

Cavehill Tennis Club was funded 
£100,000 through the Belfast City 
Council Local Investment Fund for the 
resurfacing of their courts, floodlighting 
and refurbishment of their facilities. 

Cloughey and District Tennis Club were 
funded £250,000 from Ards and North 
Down Council for the resurfacing of 
their courts and the installation of  
LED floodlights.

In addition, Belfast City Council provided 
funding of up to £11,000 for a variety 
of community outreach projects like 
“BeginHer Tennis” for females in sport, 
Visually Impaired Tennis and the Council 
provide funding for an Everybody Active 
Coach working under the management 
of our Ulster Branch Development 
Manager. 

The fostering and development of 
these key relationships are key to our 
sport and will continue to grow in the 
coming years.

Parks Tennis
The main aim of the Parks Programme 
is to provide tennis at a low cost to 
children from all social backgrounds  
not exposed to the game, during  
the autumn, winter, spring and  
summer holidays. 

The level of support 
has increased 
significantly under 
the leadership of 
ITF President David 
Haggerty
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Parks Tennis has been in operation for 
41 years, mostly run by 28 Coordinators 
and supported by various organisations, 
such as Sport Ireland, various Local 
Authorities and Tennis Ireland.

The 2017 programme took place at 
a total of 149 venues, 135 venues in 
the 26 counties and 14 in Northern 
Ireland. The programme catered for 
approximately 17,895 children this year.

Significant work was done this year 
in ensuring that all of the venues and 
those that operated within them 
were fully compliant with all of the 
safeguarding requirements and 
the development team are always 
available to support the delivery of this 
programme. Great credit is also due 
to all involved in the programme at 
National and local level.

The Board of Parks Tennis have written 
to Tennis Ireland in the last number of 
weeks outlining the intention of the 
majority of their board members to 
retire and have asked us to ensure  
that the programme is sustained in  
the future. 

Discussions are underway with 
representative from the Parks 
Programme and the stakeholders to 
ensure that the programme not only 
survives but thrives into the future.

Dublin Lawn Tennis Council 
(DLTC)
The Dublin Lawn Tennis Council runs 
inter club tennis leagues in the greater 
Dublin area throughout the year. 

Almost 10,000 players playing on over 
1,500 teams from 70 Clubs participate 
in the Dublin Lawn Tennis Council (DLTC) 
Winter, Summer, Mixed, Senior, Floodlit 
and Junior leagues. 

Efforts to improve communication 
with the DLTC have been made this 
year and there have been numerous 
engagements in an effort to align 
calendars so as to avoid fixture clashes 

and to secure sponsorship. Tennis 
Ireland acknowledges the great work 
undertaken by the DLTC, largely in a 
voluntary capacity in running such a 
successful league programme. 

Grant Applications  
and Assistance 

Sport Capital Grant Allocations
If there is a key highlight in the last 
year it was the allocation of over €3.2m 
in funding to 62 tennis projects via 
the Sports Capital Programme. The 
allocation of this funding was a clear 
example of how Tennis Ireland can 
support clubs. The delivery of workshops 
encouraging clubs to apply and 
demonstrating to them how they can 
secure not only a valid application but 
how to achieve higher marks was key 
to this success. The true value of these 
workshops and assistance provided is 
clear when there is comparison with the 
allocations of other sports. On average 
20% of applications across all sports 
were declared invalid. For tennis the 
figure was less than 10%. 

Following the submission of 
applications, a process of political 
advocacy was encouraged and 
supported and this proved to be very 
successful with the average allocation to 
Tennis Clubs being 60% higher than the 
average allocation to other sports.

Within weeks of the allocations being 
announced, all Clubs that received 
funding were invited to attend an 
information session where they were 
provided with expert guidance on the 
development of their facilities in order 
to ensure that they get a facility that is 
fit for purpose and value for money. 

Expert presenters in the area of court 
development, floodlight development 
and indoor structures joined Michael 
Moore from the Department of 
Transport, Tourism and Sport who 
demonstrated how clubs could get 

approval to commence their project  
and draw down their funding. 

For the first time in many years, 
Tennis Ireland secured funding via 
the programme with an allocation 
of €79,500 towards the cost of 
constructing clay courts at the National 
Tennis Centre.

Local Sports Partnerships
Local Sports Partnerships are a key 
stakeholder in that they provide the oil 
for the engine of Sports Development at 
local level.

Through our Development team we 
have been in touch with 27 Local Sports 
Partnerships with a view to working 
closely with their Sports Development 
Officers and to exploit any opportunity 
to tap into the supports available. 

By way of example, in 2017, six clubs 
received €1,100 each from the Fingal 
Youth Sport Grant Scheme and the 
LSP provided a further €7,053 fund 
for a Schools Tennis Initiative Project 
for Primaryand Secondary Schools 
programmes, Teacher Training, Adult 
Tennis Programmes and the Senior 
Fingal League. 

In Connacht, Sligo Sport and Recreation 
Partnership part funded the Visually 
Impaired Tennis and Intellectual 
Disability Tennis in Sligo Tennis Club.

Performance 

The National Tennis Academy
2017 was another busy year in the 
National Academy where we delivered 
training programmes for 63 athletes 
based in the Tennis Centre at  
Dublin City University. 

These athletes range in age from eight 
years of age up to pro ranked athletes 
on both the ATP and WTA tours. 

This year saw a diversity of new 
athletes coming from all four corners 
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of the country and we now have young 
athletes filtering into the system from all 
four provincial programmes.   
In particular, the number of athletes 
outside of Leinster joining the 
programme has dramatically increased 
over the past year. This is a direct 
reflection on the newly re-structured 
provincial programmes. 

Tennis Ireland’s Performance 
programme was recently recognised by 
Sport Ireland as a programme that has 
developed a systematic development 
pathway for young athletes and 
subsequently has been awarded a 
“Special Project” status which will 
hopefully open the doors to further 
investment in the coming years.

We have built further on previous 
collaborations with the Italian 
Federation, Belgium Tennis, British 
Tennis and many other private 
academies. This is a cost-effective way 
to ensure that Irish performance players 
gain regular, competitive matchplay 
opportunities. The Coaches working at 
the National Tennis Centre benefited 
from numerous Coach Development 
opportunities learning from 
international experts in performance 
tennis.

Federation national coaches 
The Academy has grown to maximum 
capacity based on the number of courts 
available in DCU and we are proud to say 
that, unlike many federations, we have a 
very active training centre that provides 
world-class training to Irish athletes on 
a daily basis. 

Last year we held clay court camps in 
the Czech Republic, Belgium, and Italy 
to prepare for the season, clay in DCU 
will mean that this preparation can be 
done at home in the future. 

Provincial Development 
Programmes
The appointment of Garret Barry to 
the role of Performance Officer with a 
specific remit to work with the Provinical 
Academy Staff and Programmes has 
seen improved co-operation and 
outcomes for the various Provincial 
Academy Programmes.  There are now 
over 460 players engaging with the 
Provincial Performance Programmes 
getting regular coaching and support in 
their regions.

The Provincial Co-ordinators, Stephen 
Nugent, Stuart McQuitty, Cian Blake 
and Alan McCormack and their team of 
coaches have shown tremendous 

dedication to the roles, and they 
are now functioning as a strong 
performance team that will produce a 
pipeline of players for Irish Tennis. 

The provincial programmes were 
additionally supported this year in 
the form of physical development 
and training  equipment to enable 
the programmes to provide more 
specialised physical preparation 
programmes. 

In order to broaden the reach of the 
Provincial Programmes and to reduce 
the travelling time, in particular for 
younger players, we have further 
developed the number of satellite 
centres operating within the provinces 
and now have 11 nationwide. We intend 
to further develop this system over the 
coming year based on a recent Regional 
review chaired by the Performance 
Director. 

This year has seen the delivery of a very 
successful collaboration between the 
National Academy and the Provincial 
Development Programmes with four 
training and talent identifciation  
camps taking place for each of the  
four provinces. 

These camps are designed to give 
provincial players the opportunity 
to come with their coaches to the 

We have a very 
active training 
centre that 
provides world-
class training to 
Irish athletes on 
a daily basis. 
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National Academy.  The camps also 
act as a coach education opportunity 
for the Regional coaches who get an 
opportunity to work alongside the 
National Academy coaches.

Since the National Camps started over 
one hundred and thirty-five players 
from the four provinces, have attended 
the National Centre. 

These camps also offer an opporunity 
to assess and identify talented young 
athletes form the Academy who can 
subsequently be offered places at the 
National Academy 

National / Provincial Coach 
Development
Without good coaches it becomes 
very difficult to produce good players, 
therefore the importance of educating 
coaches to make them better is a key 
task for Tennis Ireland. The continuous 
professional development of both  
our national and provincial staff is 
integral to the future success of  
our players. 

Last year, we received a grant from 
the ITF and Tennis Europe to provide 
expertise to our valued coaching staff 
and we hosted three workshops from 
renowned coach education expert  
Frank van Fraayenhoven 

We had over thirty coaches attending 
these workshops; the delivery included 
aspects of coaching techniques that 
will equip these coaches with the latest 
developments in sports science. 

We also hosted Donato Campagnolo, 
who is the Technical Director of the 
Italian Tennis Federation. Donato’s 
workshop was a fascinating insight into 
developing fundamental skills for young 
tennis players and linked directly to our 
teaching methodology used in both the 
National and provincial centre. 

The national academy staff regularly 
undertake in-house workshops with 
varied themes around modern teaching 

trends that can positively influence our 
ability to provide a world-class service. 

We believe that the continued 
education of high-performance staff 
will lead to a long-term sustainability 
within our high-performance system. 

Parent Education Workshops
The parents of our athletes show 
incredible commitment in helping their 
children achieve their tennis ambitions. 

We see it as our role to support them 
in many ways along this journey but 
primarily by providing educational 
workshops based on various elements 
of athlete development. 

In the last year we have hosted 7 
workshops with over 255 people in 
attendance, with many renowned 
speakers sharing their words of wisdom. 
These speakers included the likes of 
renowned Psychologist,  Kate Kirby, who 
has worked with many Olympic Athletes 
a number of whom were medallists.  
More recently, we hosted a workshop 
for parents and athletes where four 
of our highest ranked players, Conor 
Niland, James Cluskey, Amy Bowtell 
and Yvonne Doyle shared their lessons 
learned on the professional tour with 
parents and players in an effort to 
educate them on what the life of a 
touring professional is like.   

We will continue to develop this 
programme nationally and introduce  
a similar programme in the provinces  
in 2018.

Davis Cup 
The Irish Davis Cup team were back 
to Group II for the first time in three 
years where they faced a strong Danish 
team in their opening tie which was 
played away in Birkerod on the 3rd and 
4th February 2018. Three of our top 
players were unavailable for selection 
and Peter Bothwell led the team which 
included four debutants in Simon 
Carr, Sam Bothwell, Julian Bradley and 

“

There are 
now over 
460 players 
engaging with 
the Provincial 
Performance 
Programmes”

“
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Osgar O’Hoisin. Conor Niland was the 
Non Playing Captain with Barry King 
travelling as Assistant Coach. 

Simon Carr and Peter Bothwell played 
the singles matches on the first day with 
Simon losing in straight sets despite 
putting up a brave performance against 
the Danish number 1 Freddie Nielsen.  
Peter Bothwell kept the tie alive by 
defeating the Danish number 2 in three 
sets. Sam Bothwell and Oscar O’Hoisin 
played in the Doubles losing in two  
tight sets. 

As a result of the loss in Denmark, 
the team travelled to Norway for a 
relegation play-off in Oslo on the 7th 
and 8th April. The team selected on 
that occasion was Simon Carr, Peter 
Bothwell, Sam Bothwell, Julian Bradley 
and Daniel Glancy.

Peter Bothwell took centre stage on 
day 1 as he came up against Norway’s 
Viktor Durasovic in the first rubber 
where he battled hard in a tough three 
setter to take the first rubber 36 62 63. 
Casper Ruud came out on top of the 
second rubber against Simon Carr on 
a scoreline of 6 2 6 1. Peter Bothwell 
and Simon Carr lined out in the doubles 
match against Casper Ruud and Viktor 
Durasovic and whilst the pair played 
some good tennis at times they just 
couldn’t get the break they were looking 
for. Bothwell and Carr battled hard 
throughout but eventually went down 
62 62.

The pressure was on Peter Bothwell 
as he faced Casper Ruud to keep us in 
the tie and in what was a close match 
Bothwell showed his fighting spirit 
throughout their encounter. However, 
Rudd took the rubber 63 75 and Ireland 
were relegated to Group III. 

We sent one of our staff members, 
Ciaran Flynn, to both ties to look after 
social media and communications and 
he did an excellent job promoting the 
event and our team on our social media 
platforms, through regular reports to 

Tennis Ireland   |  Annual Report 2017

11



our member’s database and through 
our media contacts. 

As a result of the loss, Ireland will now 
play in Group III in 2019, the draw for 
which will take place later this year. 

Fed Cup
The Irish Fed Cup team travelled to 
Montenegro to participate in the 
Europe/Africa Zone Group III event 
which commenced on the 16th April 
2018.The Irish team made up of Amy 
Bowtell, Ruth Copas, Jane Fennelly, 
Lauren Deegan and captained by 
Yvonne Doyle took part in this year’s  
Fed Cup by BNP Paribas in the Europe/
Africa Zone Group III.

Due to the late withdrawal of nations, 
the event ran over four days instead of 
six with the tournament taking place in 
Ulcinj Bellevue. Ireland were drawn in 
Pool B along with Malta, Morocco  
and Uganda.

It was a tough first day for the team as 
they were beaten convincingly by Malta 
who eventually went on to contest the 
promotion play off for Group II against 
South Africa. On day 2 it was a much 
tighter affair against Morocco with 
Jane Fennelly going close in her singles 
rubber and Amy Bowtell coming out 
on top in her rubber. It went down to a 
deciding doubles encounter were Ruth 

Copas and Jane Fennelly came up short 
against Morocco after putting up a 
valiant effort.

Day 3 saw the Irish team facing Uganda 
who were represented at the Fed 
Cup for the first time in their history. 
Jane Fennelly and Ruth Copas made 
light work of their singles rubbers to 
give Ireland a 2 – 0 lead. Fennelly and 
Deegan won the doubles match to give 
Ireland a convincing 3 – 0 victory.

They then faced Montenegro in the 
5th/6th place play off with Jane Fennelly 
playing the first rubber and defeating 
her opponent 75 64 in what was a great 
performance from Jane. Ruth Copas was 
up next and her opponent was forced to 
retire through injury in the first set. Amy 
Bowtell and Lauren Deegan played that 
last rubber of this Fed Cup Campaign 
and came out victorious to claim a 5th 
place spot for the Irish team. Yvonne 
praised the team for their positive 
attitude and commitment both on and 
off the court. 

Grand Slams, Tournaments and 
Ranking Highlights 

Simon Carr had a great year, 
the highlights of which were his 
qualification for the last 16 of the US 
open and the last 32 of the French open 
juniors at Roland Garros. 

Simon also made the semi-final of the 
Irish Open Futures event in July 2017 
earning precious ranking points while 
doing so.  

Simon is now finding his feet in the 
professional ranks, a tall order for any 
18-year-old, but we believe he has the 
skill and determination to succeed.  A 
recent injury setback will hopefully 
be short-lived and we look forward to 
seeing Simon complete again very soon.  

Georgia Drummy is another player that 
is having a great year.  

Currently in the top 40 players in the 
junior world rankings, Georgia made the 
final of an ITF Category 1 tournament in 
April 2018 in Carson, USA and also won 
an ITF Category 2 Event in Argentina.  

Georgia’s success ensured  her 
qualification for the 2018 French Open 
where unfortunately she was beaten in 
the first round by the highly rated Maria 
Camila Osario Serrano.

Anti-Doping
Tennis Ireland’s anti-doping policy is 
that doping is contrary to the spirit of 
sport and every member has a duty 
to ensure that the sport is free of 
doping. We continue to implement our 
Anti- Doping Education Strategy and 
have hosted education seminars and 
workshops for our High-Performance 
athletes and support staff during the 
year. Tennis Ireland in conjunction with 
Sport Ireland host an annual Anti – 
Doping information workshop to our 
High-Performance players. In 2016 the 
workshop was held on November 25th 
and 2017 it was held on November 
10th. Across these two workshops we 
had 20 players in attendance along with 
the National Tennis Academy coaching 
team.  All High-Performance players 
were invited to attend the workshop 
which is run by Rachel Maguire (Anti – 
Doping Executive with Sport Ireland), 
unfortunately due to schedule and 
tournament commitments not all the 
players were able to attend. For anyone 
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who couldn’t attend the workshops 
Sport Ireland now offer an eLearning 
module on Anti – Doping which several 
players have undertaken. No adverse 
findings from blood or urine tests were 
reported in 2017. 

Communications
Social Media
Our Facebook and Twitter followers are 
growing steadily each month. The main 
aim of our social media accounts is to 
provide fast and efficient information 
on all tennis related activities in Ireland 
to our engaged followers. We have a 
total of 6,918 page likes rising from 
5,454 in January 2017. We saw great 
engagement around numerous events 
throughout the year and during the 
AIG Irish Open our Facebook page had 
a total reach of 236,000 which was a 
direct result from player interviews, 
match reports and general updates 
throughout the week. In January 2017, 
we had 3,782 followers which has now 
risen to 4,301 followers in 2018. 

Twitter performed well throughout the 
year with July being another impressive 
month during the AIG Irish Open. 151 
tweets were published with 239,000 
tweet impressions and 17,800 profile 
visits during the month. On Facebook 
we have 6,734 followers rising from 
5,601 followers in January 2017. Simon 
Carr competing in all four Grand 
Slams also provided great content and 
engagement with our followers.

Our Instagram account is growing at 
pace and have found it as a very popular 

platform for sharing information. Since 
October 2017 we have grown our 
followers on Instagram from 183 to 648 
followers. It is a great way of engaging 
with our High-Performance players and 
strong relationships are being built with 
players as a result.

Ezine – Newsletter
The Tennis Ireland newsletter is 
published each month and circulated 
to 17, 263 persons, rising from 16,000 
persons in 2017. The information 
shared via the newsletter is a mix of 
international and domestic stories 
featuring players and teams across 
all categories, important updates 
from within the sport, some local club 
stories and items of special interest 
including notice of Davis Cup, Fed Cup, 
Wimbledon and French Open ticket 
ballots. In particular, there was positive 
feedback from Tennis Ireland members 
on reporting from the AIG Irish Open, 
National Indoors and Davis Cup  
when we gave daily updates to all 
newsletter subscribers. 

Staff Education and Training
A key area of improvement in the 
last year has been the continued 
development of our valued staff.  12 
employees and Board members from 
across the company attended a total 
of 5 courses over the past year run by 
Sport Ireland. These courses covered 
a range of topics including project 
management, corporate governance, 
data protection, organisational 
leadership and computer upskilling. 

Development
Active clubs are the linchpin to the 
success and growth of our Sport and a 
successful tennis club is a club that can 
satisfy the needs of all its members of all 
ages, at all levels of ability.

A major part of the Development Team’s 
role is to advise, assist and support our 
affiliated tennis clubs so that they can 
provide facilities and activities to their 
members which will contribute towards 
attracting and further maintaining 
new comers to our clubs.  We urge all 
our affiliated clubs to make use of our 
Development Team who will be only  
too happy to assist you with your  
future plans. 

Engagement with Clubs
In 2017 the Development team 
engaged directly with 109 of our 
affiliated clubs.

At these meetings, the team has been 
assisting committees with their plans 
outlining to them the supports available 
to them through programmes such 
as Clubmark.  Other topics discussed 
with clubs have related to membership 
growth and maintaining members, 
organized play, graded competition 
 and other activities from our 
Participation Programmes as well  
as advice regarding funding.

Open Days
Well planned Open Days linked to 
schools and Parks programmes have 
proved to be one of the best approaches 
for increasing membership. The Team 
has encouraged the clubs in their 
regions to organize open days aiding 
in planning and promoting the Events. 
We are aware of26 Clubs that organised 
Open Days in 2017 and as a result, 
almost one thousand new members 
were recruited.

We saw great engagement 
around numerous events 
throughout the year and 
during the AIG Irish Open 
our Facebook page had  
a total reach of 236,000.
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Membership Growth 
While exact amount of members 
male and female in a club is a very 
important statistic for us to gather, for 
various reasons it’s been a challenging 
exercise. We cannot over emphasize the 
importance of the data return form and 
providing us with as much information 
as you can on the return as it’s very 
important information to have when we 
approach Sport Ireland for funding. 

While we believe the numbers of 
inaccurate declarations is reducing, 
there is evidence to suggest that 
some clubs are not declaring accurate 
members in an effort to reduce the 
level of capitation fees to Tennis Ireland.  
Given that the majority of Tennis 
Ireland’s income comes from these fees 
and is used to invest in the development 
of the sport and provision of services to 
clubs, this is a self-defeating exercise.  
The Board have taken a stronger role 
and monitoring view of the declarations 
and will continue to do so in an effort to 
ensure that all clubs and their members 
pay their fair share of the cost of 
developing the sport

Tennis Ireland Clubmark
The Clubmark programme aims to 
identify, develop, accredit and recognise 
high quality Tennis clubs and the 
contribution that they make to the 
development of the sport in Ireland.

To gain the Tennis Ireland Clubmark 
accreditation, clubs are required to 
evidence compliance with the core 
Clubmark criteria.  Tennis Ireland value 
the essential and significant role that 
Tennis clubs play in the development of 
sport: providing outlets for participation, 
quality environments for talented young 
athletes to develop and competitive 
opportunities offered by clubs.

A Clubmark accredited club is 
recognised as a safe, regarding and 
quality environment for participants of 
all ages to enjoy tennis and stay involved 
throughout their lives.

The quality standards outlined with 
the programme relate to the areas 
of organisation and management, 
safety, child welfare, risk management, 
equality and inclusion, organised play 
and scoring, competition, coaching 
and player development, outreach 
programmes and communication and 
public relations.

The programme is accredited at three 
levels, Bronze, Silver or Gold and aims to 
identify, develop, accredit and recognize 
high quality tennis clubs and their 
contribution to the development of our 
sport in Ireland.

Some benefits of achieving the criteria 
set out in the programme include, 

•  a listing on the Tennis Ireland 
Website as a Tennis Ireland Clubmark 
Accredited Club. 

•  a framed certificate for the Bronze 
and Silver Awards and a wall plaque 
for the Gold Award.

There is also the opportunity for 
the personal development of club 
volunteers and personnel purely by 
going through the process under the 
guidance of one of our team members 
and of course, there is the potential 
to increase and maintain the club’s 
membership.

Achieving Clubmark signals that 
your club provides a quality sporting 
experience, open to all and delivered in 

a safe environment, administered  
by an effective and efficient  
committee.

Omagh Tennis Club and Helen’s 
Bay Tennis Club achieved Clubmark 
accreditation in 2017 and are the 14th 
and 15th Clubs respectively to achieve 
Clubmark accreditation over the 7 year 
period in the Province.

Any Tennis Ireland affiliated club can 
register for inclusion in the Clubmark 
Programme and further information on 
the accreditation programmes can be 
viewed on our websites.

We currently have 31 Clubs who are 
at different stages of the process and 
7 Clubs that achieved an award in the 
Republic in 2017 and two Clubs in 
Northern Ireland.

Club Name
Clubmark 
Standard

Ballinlough LTC Gold

Rushbrooke LTC Gold

Celbridge LTC Silver

Donabate Portrane LTC Silver

Portmarnock LTC Bronze

Deerpark LTC Bronze

Crosshaven LTC Bronze

Omagh Tennis Club Sport NI

Helen’s Bay Tennis Club Sport NI
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Schools Tennis Initiative
School is often the first place where 
children are exposed to organised 
physical activity and it is crucial that 
tennis clubs take an interest in reaching 
out to schools adjacent to their clubs 
ensuring that they are competing with 
other popular sports. 

Two initiatives created by our Schools 
Tennis Coordinator have been making a 
major contribution towards developing 
our game at grassroots level and have 
huge potential to continue to grow and 
maintain participants in our sport.

In order to demonstrate how easy, it is 
to offer a different sport as part of the 
games strand, and to introduce our 
sport to as wide an audience as possible, 
we have developed a Primary and a 
Secondary Schools Tennis Initiative that 
is being coordinated by Development 
Officer, Olwyn O’Toole.

The main objective of the Primary 
School Programme is to introduce 
school children at this level to tennis 
through the Games Strand of the 
National PE Curriculum. No tennis 
courts are required. A school yard or 
hall will suffice and a full suite of lesson 
plans from junior infants to 6th class 
has been created for the teachers to 
implement.

Teachers can sign up to the Primary 
Schools Initiative where they can 
download the tennis PE Curriculum 
based Programme to deliver as part 

of their PE Activities. This Programme 
we estimate catered for up to 12,000 
children per year.

In the Fingal area, the Local Sports 
Partnership funded six week courses 
to 21 primary schools that led to 
2,424 students participating in tennis. 
A further six week programme was 
provided to 7 Secondary schools 
with 745 students participating. This 
was followed up with a one day blitz 
event in 5 schools with 865 recorded 
participants.

A key tool for promoting clubs in 
communities is the creation of links 
between Schools and Clubs.  22 clubs 
were engaged with as part of a School 
Friendly Club initiative and a total 
of 65 tennis festivals at 30 venues 
were organised and delivered.  This 
programme was funded utilising 
funding from the Women in Sport 
allocation that Tennis Ireland received 
from Sport Ireland in 2017.

Our initial target for the project was 
3,000 players in attendance at the 
festivals. Our actual total, however, 
amounted to 12,479 of which 7,422  
of those in attendance were girls.

In addition, Club coaches delivered  
6 week coaching blocks in schools to 
5,767 students. 

516 players, 312 of which are girls are  
in club programmes as a result. 

40 coaches have since signed up as 
Schools Friendly coaches and over  
400 teachers have signed up to the 
lesson plans online.

Teacher Training
During 2017, a Teacher Training 
module was developed to help Teachers 
deliver the Lesson Plans related to 
the PE Curriculum. The Module was 
piloted in five schools in Fingal with 26 
participants in attendance and is ready 
for further roll-out in 2018. 

Progression from the Outreach 
Programmes to Clubs and Parks
One of the challenges with the Schools 
tennis programme is establishing the 
numbers involved in the extracurricular 
coaching programmes and indeed 
signposting the children from these 
programmes to the next level of 
participation which is to their local club.   
Unfortunately, this doesn’t happen 
enough especially if the coach operating 
in the schools has no connection with 
the local clubs.

We have some model clubs that 
worked well linking up with their local 
schools and Parks in 2017 and as a 
result, has increased club membership 
considerably and will encourage more 
clubs to participate in these initiatives 
in 2018.

We currently 
have 31 Clubs 
who are at 
different 
stages of the 
Clubmark 
process

“
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Adult Community Tennis 
Programmes
Tara Congdon, Development Officer 
for Fingal, piloted 8 Programmes in the 
Fingal area with 48 Participants taking 
part in beginner, improver and Cardio 
tennis sessions.

Everybody Active Programme
Following the securing of £1.5m in 
National Lottery funding by Belfast City 
Council, the Ulster Branch of Tennis 
Ireland successfully applied for and  
was one of just 12 sports to have 
secured funding under the  
Everybody Active Programme.

This programme is one of the key 
participation programmes delivered 
in Ulster and aims to utilise Tennis to 
increase physical activity.  There were 
2,084 participants involved in the 2017 
Every Body Active Programme delivered 
by Sumeet Kapur in Belfast. 

FitHit
The FitHit Programme exists to 
provide children to play Tennis in a 
fun environment using Red, Orange 
and Green Balls.  The programme is 
delivered in partnership with clubs, 
parks and schools coming together 

to reach out to all children in the 
community and invite to play Tennis in 
local club or community facilities.  

In Connacht, FitHit continues to grow 
with over 175 players taking part in  
12 clubs.

In Fingal, there were 22 sessions 
delivered during an eleven week 
programme catering for 286 players.

Enjoy Tennis
The Enjoy Tennis programme provides 
opportunities for players with a disability 
to learn and enjoy playing tennis in 
clubs around Ireland and is now fully 
integrated into Tennis Ireland and is 
operating across all four provinces. 
Participation numbers are growing 
steadily as word of the programme 
infiltrates the tennis community and 3 
years since its inception the programme 
is now established in 65 clubs and caters 
for 850 players.

The rapid growth and success of 
the programme is down to the 
overwhelming positive reaction from 
clubs, coaches and members who 
volunteer on a weekly basis to enable 
members of our communities with a 
disability to access and enjoy our sport.

The programme caters with a range 
of Sensory, Physical and Intellectual 
disabilities and our commitment is to 
grow and develop the programme 
and ensure that it is sustainable in  
the long term.

The highlight of the year for this 
programme was the hosting of the 2018 
World Blind Tennis Championships from 
April 27th to 30th at Shankill Tennis 
Club, the first time the Championship 
was held in Ireland.

The tournament was rated a huge 
success by the players, coaches, 
organisers and by the International 
Blind Tennis Association with over  
60 players taking part. 

Great Britain led the medals table 
followed by Mexico. Highlights of the 
Ireland team performance were Brian 
Lenehan from Windsor TC in Belfast 
who took sliver in the B2 classification 
and Zsophia Gruber from Shankill who 
was placed third in the Open category. 

A huge amount of gratitude must go 
to President of Leinster Tennis, Liam 
O’Donohoe who has worked tirelessly to 
drive the Enjoy Tennis Programme and 
was instrumental in bringing the World 
Championships to Ireland.  
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Funding the continued expansion of 
the programme and putting in place 
the necessary supports to ensure 
its sustainability will be an ongoing 
objective for the sport. Funding was 
secured from the Dormant Accounts 
Fund administered by Sport Ireland as 
well as from the Department of Justice, 
Equality and Law Reform via Pobal.   
This will have to be supplemented with 
some fundraising and in this regard 
on the weekend of July 14th next, four 
tennis players will, as a fundraiser for the 
programme, attempt to break the world 
record for continuous play in doubles.   
James Cluskey, David Mullins, Dan 
O’Brien and Luke McGuire will take on 
the current record Guinness Book  
of Records of 59 hours at Fitzwilliam 
Tennis Club.

Tennis Ireland’s work on the programme 
was recognised at the CARA National 
Inclusion Awards which seek to 
acknowledge organisations and 
individuals in Ireland who contribute to 
enhancing participation opportunities 
for people with disabilities in Sport, 
Physical Activity and Physical Education 
and Tennis Ireland received the award 
for Best National Governing Body for its 
Enjoy Tennis Programme in 2017.

Key to the ongoing success of the 
programme is the engagement of 
coaches and numerous workshops 
and training opportunities have been 
arranged in the past year.  For example, 
17 participants attended a Cara 
Disability Awareness Workshop which 
provided coaches with the tools to work 
in an inclusive manner and how to adapt 
their teaching style and rules to cater for 
people with disabilities.

Coach Education 2017
Coaches and coaching plays a critical 
role in the development of our sport. 
So, the training of coaches and their 
continuous professional development is 
very important.

The Coach Education and Technical 

committee is made up of a chairperson 
appointed by the Board of Tennis 
Ireland, the Director of Development of 
Tennis Ireland, a TCI representative, the 
two Course Assessors and two of the 
Senior Tutors. The committee met nine 
times during 2017 and their role is to 
increase and maintain the development 
of quality coaches in the 4 Provinces by 
organising and delivering courses with 
the most up to date and appropriate 
content, reviewing the courses after 
each delivery, assimilating coaches 
trained outside of our system and fast 
tracking former ATP and WTA  
retired players. 

We also work very closely with Sport 
Ireland Coaching and the ITF in order 
to comply with both organisations 
requirements.

Our Coach Education programme 
is based on the Long Term Player 
Development Pathway.

We have 6 levels of courses in our 
system. The first three levels are the 
Play and Stay Assistant, the Tennis 
Assistant 1 and the Tennis Assistant 2 
and participants completing the course 
are trained to assist qualified coaches in 
various tasks in our modified game.  

The next three Levels are from Level 
1 to Level 3. Participants completing 
these courses, depending on the Level, 
are qualified to work professionally with 
players from beginner right up to players 
of all ages and abilities.

21 Participants completed the Level 1 
Coaching Course in 2017. 

ITF Recognition of National  
Coach Education Systems –  
2018 – 2022
The overall objective of the ITF’s 
Recognition of National Coach 
Education Systems is to ensure that 
coach education activities performed 
in its member nations are meeting set 
standards.

The recognition is based on criteria 
and standards for coach education 
that were agreed by the ITF Task Force 
on Coach Education and subsequently 
endorsed by the ITF Coaches’ 
Commission and the ITF Board of 
Directors.

To achieve the recognition, a National 
Governing Body has to provide to the 
ITF a range of related information 
relating to our programme in advance 
and then an ITF assessor pays a 2-day 
visit to the nation concerned where 
their Director of Coach Education has 
the opportunity to present the system 
that they have in place, show the 
assessor all the resources and learning 
tools used in their programme and pay 
a visit to one of the courses.

Having been awarded Gold 
Recognition in the 2013 – 2017 
Cycle, Tennis Ireland was invited to 
be reassessed by the ITF for the 2018 
– 2022 Recognition Programme.  I 
am delighted to say that the ITF has 
acknowledged our programme worthy 
of the Gold Standard for a further 4 
years and Ireland remains one of just 
18 countries in the World to have 
achieved  
this award.
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Licensed Coaches

The objective of our Licensing 
Programme, which was part of the 
criteria for the ITF Recognition is to 
ensure our Coaches are vetted, have 
up to date Safeguarding 1 training and 
have achieved the annual CPD points 
set as part of the criteria. 

It’s important that all individuals or 
organisations who employ or contract 
coaches use the services of licensed 
coaches only. 

We had 125 Licensed Coaches on our 
register in 2017 and the list can be 
found on our website.

One of our challenges is the fact that 
many of our stakeholders who contract 
coaches are not insisting that they are 
licensed, and they don’t differentiate 
between the various levels of expertise 
our coaches possess and are unaware 
that each level of coach is qualified to 
carry out different levels of work.  The 
Board will be looking at this anomaly in 
the year ahead with a view to ensuring 
that only Licensed coaches can be 
involved in Irish Tennis.

Continuous Professional 
Development 2017
Continuous Professional Development 
of coaches is key to ensuring that they 
stay up to date with modern techniques 
and systems of coaching.  In 2017, 
11 opportunities for the Continuous 
Professional Development of coaches 
were organised.

Leaders Course
The Tennis Ireland Leaders Course 
was developed to provide people with 
an interest in volunteering to support 
tennis programmes in clubs with the 
skills and knowledge to assist their 
Coach.  There were 181 Participants on 
16 Courses in 2017

Tennis Coach Ireland 
The Association’s main function is to 
inform and represent the 250 Irish 
coaches on all matters related to 
teaching and developing the game. 

Tennis Ireland and Tennis Coach Ireland 
work very closely together in areas like 
our licensing scheme, coach education/
CPD and we provide support for TCI 
through a grant of €8,000 per annum 
towards their Development Officer and 
the use of our National Tennis Centre for 
their conferences.

Safeguarding
The term Child Protection has been 
expanded to Safeguarding as it reflects 
the wider responsibility we all have for 
the health, safety and prevention from 
abuse.  The word safeguarding has been 
used with increasing frequency over the 
last few years in a wide range of settings 
and situations, going well beyond 
the world of children to also include 
vulnerable adults. 

Safeguarding is about being proactive 
and putting measures in place in 
advance of any contact with children 
to ensure that children are going to 
be kept safe and this is what the new 
legislation requires. 

At the end of 2017, Sport Ireland 
informed all National Governing Bodies 
that it was necessary to have developed 
by 11th March 2018, a Risk Assessment 
and a Safeguarding Statement posted in 
a prominent place. 

Templates relating to these two 
requirements were developed and from 
those we produced our own guiding 
documents and forwarded them to 
clubs and other stakeholders outlining 
the steps they need to take to comply 
with the act. These templates have 
been added to the range of other 
documentary support that is available 
from the Tennis Ireland website as well 
as the assistance available 

In addition to our Risk Assessment 
document described above, there are 
further procedures that support our 
intention to safeguard children while 
they are availing of our services. 

Tennis Ireland’s has the following 
procedures in place as part of the 
Safeguarding Code;

•  Procedures for the management of 
allegations of abuse or misconduct 
by staff or volunteers against a child 
availing of our activities Procedures 
for the safe recruitment of staff and 
volunteers to work with children in 
our activities 

•  Procedures for access to child 
safeguarding training and 
information, including the identifi 
cation of the occurrence of harm 

•  Procedure for the reporting of child 
protection or welfare concerns to the 
Statutory Authorities. 

12 Requirements
To ensure clubs are in compliance we 
have 12 requirements that need to be 
achieved by stakeholders which can be 
viewed on our website under “Achieving 
Safeguarding Compliance”.

Working together, we have 115 clubs 
100% compliant with the requirements. 

There are 230 Children’s Officers in the 
clubs and they have all been trained in 
SG1 and SG2. 

There are 107 Designated Liaison 
Officers and they have all been trained 
in SG1 and SG3. 

Vetting is valid for three years and 
the attendance on a Safeguarding 1 
Course by the Children’s Officers, the 
Designated Liaison Officers and the 
Coaches is valid for 5 years. 

To support those who’s time is getting 
close to update their knowledge 
on Safeguarding, Sport Ireland has 
developed an on line Safeguarding 
1 Refresher Course, a web based 

Programme, which was part of the 
criteria for the ITF Recognition is to 
ensure our Coaches are vetted, have 
up to date Safeguarding 1 training and 
have achieved the annual CPD points 
set as part of the criteria. 

It’s important that all individuals or 
organisations who employ or contract 
coaches use the services of licensed 
coaches only. 

We had 125 Licensed Coaches on our 
register in 2017 and the list can be 
found on our website.

One of our challenges is the fact that 
many of our stakeholders who contract 
coaches are not insisting that they are 
licensed, and they don’t differentiate 
between the various levels of expertise 
our coaches possess and are unaware 
that each level of coach is qualified to 
carry out different levels of work.  The 
Board will be looking at this anomaly in 
the year ahead with a view to ensuring 
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education resource aimed at providing 
further training to those who have 
previously attended a Safeguarding 
workshop or equivalent.

You can access the On-line refresher 
course in the E-Learning section on  
the Sport Ireland Website.

Garda Vetting
The Vetting Act came into effect on 
the 29 April 2016 and now makes it 
mandatory for people working with 
children or vulnerable adults to be 
vetted by the National Vetting Bureau. 
The main purpose of the Bureau is to 
deal with requests from organisations 
like Tennis Ireland to provide 
information on prospective employees, 
volunteers or other workers who engage 
with children or vulnerable adults. The 
E-vetting process has proven to be a 
huge success as a fast and efficient 
service is delivered to Tennis Ireland 
members engaging with the process. 
Since we started providing the vetting 
service for our stakeholders in 2007, we 
have processed 6,231 applicants, 531 of 
which were completed during 2017 and 
a further 208 to date in 2018.

Competitions 

Open Tournaments
Tennis Ireland grants tournament 
permits to affiliated clubs to host open 
tournaments in Junior, Senior, Veteran 
and Wheelchair categories.

During 2017 we introduced a new 
online application process whereby 
clubs submitted online applications 
by logging in to the system via their 
tournament software account to 
complete the process. 

In 2017, we allocated permits for 64 
Junior open tournaments, 63 senior, 21 
veteran events and 1 wheelchair event.  
The total number of Entries to these 
events was 32,255 and this figure is up 
7% on the previous year.

To date this year, we have engaged with 
75 clubs and have managed the permit 
application process online with their 
designated tournament administrator. 
As a result, over 130 permits were issued 
for Open Tournaments for 2018. 

In 2017, we also introduced a new 
code violation feature on tournament 
software which is  working well with 
referees to allow them to simply 
record all code of conduct and entry 
infringements. The automated 
procedure for handling appeals is in 
place and to date any issues arising from 
the new system have been concluded 
without further appeal. 

National Player Database (or NPD)
Currently, over 38,000 persons are 
registered on the Tennis Ireland National 
Player database. An extensive effort was 
made this year to clean and verify the 
data on the database, especially when 
it comes to duplicate records.   With the 
advent of the GDPR, we are looking at 
the data that we hold on the NPD and 

will remove any data that is dormant.  

Greater efforts were made this year to 
ensure that players enter tournaments 
on line and this led to an increase 
in the number of players entering 
tournaments online. Indeed, some  
80% of players entering our 
tournaments do so online and this 
figure increases to over 90% in the case 
of Junior Open’s.

ITF Future’s Events
For the first time in many years, Ireland 
hosted 3 ITF Professional events, 
a Men’s event known as the Dun 
Laoghaire Rathdown International 
Tennis Championships and a combined 
Men’s and Ladies AIG Irish Open Tennis 
Championships.

The first of the ITF Future’s Events 
was the Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 
International Tennis Championships 
held in Carrickmines Tennis Club 
from 17th – 23rd July with a strong 
representation of Irish players including 
Sam Barry, Peter Bothwell, Sam 
Bothwell, Simon Carr, Osgar O’Hoisin 
and Julian Bradley. 

Simon Carr and Sam Barry progressed to 
the second round of the competition. 

The finalists of the event were Ryan 
Storrie and Tom Farquharson with Tom 
Farquharson eventually coming out on 
top in a final of high quality. 

Peter Bothwell reached the finals of the 
doubles event with his partner Lloyd 
Glasspool. 
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Particular thanks are due to Dun 
Laoghaire Rathdown County Council 
who were the main sponsor of the event 
and to the members of Carrickmines 
who were very supportive of the event.

Men’s and Ladies Irish Open 
The AIG Irish Open at Fitzwilliam LTC 
proved to be a very successful week 
both in terms of the organisation and 
the results of the Irish players involved. 
Simon Carr and Sam Barry reached the 
semi–finals and Peter Bothwell made 
the quarter finals. This was Simon Carr’s 
first futures semi–final appearance at 
the age of 17.

Sam Bothwell reached the finals of the 
doubles event with his partner Edward 
Bourchier of Australia.  

The Ladies Irish Open returned for the 
first time in twelve years and it was a 
fantastic opportunity for our Irish players 
to compete in a professional event on 
home soil and an opportunity to earn 
ranking points. It was an impressive 
week for Anna Bowtell who reached 
the quarter finals and also for Sinead 
Lohan who made the final of the event. 
Unfortunately, an injury hit Sinead was 
beaten by a very strong opponent in 
Jodi Burrage but was very impressive 
in making her way to the final battling 
through injury during the week. 

There was significant national press 
coverage during the event. TG4 
broadcast both singles finals live which 
were watched by 130,000 people 
over a 4 ½ hour broadcast. RTÉ used 
clips on both Saturday’s Six One and 9 
o’clock news bulletin. There was also 
various other broadcast coverage on 
Newstalk, Today FM, RTE Radio 1, FM 
104 and 2fm throughout the week of 
the event. In terms of print there were 
pieces in the Irish Times, Sunday Times, 
Irish Independent, Irish Examiner, Irish 
Daily Mail, Mail on Sunday, Sunday 
Independent and The Herald. I would 
like to thank AIG and the staff and 
members of Fitzwilliam Tennis Club for 
their support for this event. 

ITF U18 
Tennis Ireland hosted three U18 ITF 
World ranking points events last year 
which were held in Malahide Tennis 
Club, Windsor Tennis Club and Dundalk 
Tennis. We are indebted to the clubs for 
their continuous commitment to these 
events and look forward to once again 
staging these events in July and August 
of 2018. 

These tournaments provide an 
opportunity for Irish players to gain 
invaluable international ranking points 
here at home which make it easier for 
them to gain entry to tournaments 
overseas in the future. Irish players who 
featured strongly were Sophia Derivan 
winner at the Dundalk ITF.

Tennis Europe Events 
Two weeks of Tennis Europe u14 events 
were held at the National Tennis Centre 
in DCU at the end of July and beginning 
of August with a strong representation 
from Irish players throughout both 
weeks. Nathan Slattery and Arthur O 
Sullivan both reached the semi-final in 
week 1 while Freddy Murray and Arthur 
O’Sullivan lost out in the doubles final. 

The second week saw Juliana Carton 
claim the U14 girl’s title after defeating 
Aisling O Connor in the final. It was a 
good week for Juliana and Aisling who 
then teamed up to win the doubles title.

Junior Interprovincials
The Junior Interprovincial Competition 
is held each year in August in the U14 
and U18 age categories. The 2017 
event was held at Rushbrooke Lawn 
Tennis and Croquet Club and Munster 

won the U14 event and Leinster won the 
U18 event.  The event was very well run 
and great credit is due to the Munster 
Branch and the members of Rushbrooke 
Tennis Club. 

National Matchplay Series
The national matchplay series was 
introduced almost 20 years ago to 
fill a specific gap in the tournament 
calendar and to provide competitive 
opportunities for performance players 
from each of the four Provinces. Players 
were originally selected from their 
provincial squads to compete in a 
weekend of national matchplay. The 
popular format of multiple matches 
feeding into a more level playing field 
after each round means that all players 
benefit from the quality of matchplay. 

Over 500 players competed in the 2017 
Winter Matchplay series culminating 
in the National event in Westwood 
Leopardstown and Castlebar Tennis Club 
which was held on 8th-10th December. 

Shared Access National Indoor 
Junior Championship
The Shared Access National Indoor 
Junior Championship was held in 
Westwood Leopardstown with the 
qualifying rounds on 15th-17th 
December and the Main Draw on 27th 
-31st Dec. 

• The U18 Boys event saw a repeat 
champion in Ammar Elamin from 
Mullingar as he defeated Jordan 
McKeown 6-3 6-0 and in the U18 
Girls event Shauna Heffernan 
defeated Alison O’Dea in three sets 
6-4 4-6 6-1.
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• The U16 Boys events saw Mark 
Borisov defeat Samuel West in three 
sets 4-6 6-3 6-3 and in the Girls 
event Juliana Carton defeated Kate 
Gardiner 6-4 6-1.

• In the U14 events Hugh Butler 
defeated John Glynn 6-0 6-0, and 
in the Girls event Cliona Walsh 
defeated Rachel Mccrum in a close 
two sets 6-4 7-5. 

• In the U12 events Sean O’Nuallain 
defeated Johnny Wilkinson in the 
final 6-2 6-1, and in the Girls event 
Sophie O’Hanlon defeated Realtin 
Stara by the same score of 6-2 6-1. 

Irish Junior Open 
The 103rd Irish Junior Open took place 
in Fitzwilliam LTC where some of the 
best national rivalries of the year were 
played out in front of a large crowd 
at the Club and once again we thank 
Fitzwilliam for hosting such a fantastic 
event and acknowledge the support of 
William Fry Solicitors who sponsored 
the event. 

•  In the U18 boys Peter Corrie 
defeated Jordan McKeown 6-0 7-6 
and in the U18 girls Jennifer Timotin 
defeated Caragh Courtney 6-4 6-3. 

• In the U16 age group Harry Ellesmere 
defeated Conor Gannon 6-3 6-4 and 
in the Girls event Caoimhe Duffy-
Niblock defeated Anna O’Farrell in a 
tight two sets 6-4 7-5. 

• The U14 event saw some tight 
matches as Juliana Carton prevailed 
over Olwyn Ryan-Bovey in a very 
close three sets 4-6 7-6 7-6 and 
in the Boys event Arthur O’Sullivan 
defeated Freddy Murray 6-3 6-2.

• In the U12 event the top two seeds 
squared off in both the Boys and the 
Girls Events as Roy Keegan defeated 
Sean O’Nuallain 6-0 6-2 and 
Coco Elise Lynn-Browne defeated 
Alannah Wilkinson 7-5 6-3.

Four Nations 
The Four Nations event for U12s, U14s, 
and U18 took place in Glasgow on 
8th – 11th September. The teams were 
captained by Stephen Nugent, John 
McGahon, and Lynsey Mccullough. 
2017 saw the return of England to the 
competition, and emerged as the overall 
champion winning two of the three age 
groups only losing to Scotland in the 
U14s. 

The U12 team of Roy Keegan, Sean 
O’Nuallain, Coco Louise Lynn Browne 
and Alannah Wilkinson competed well 
finishing second in their age group.  
They lost their opening match to 
England than defeated Scotland and 
eventually drawing with Wales in the 
final match. 

Similarly, the U14 team shared similar 
results. The squad of Arthur O’Sullivan, 
Freddy Murray, Juliana Carton, and 
Olwyn Ryan Bovey defeated Wales 4-2, 
drew with England, and eventually 
losing to the group leaders Scotland 
1-4. 

Putting up a solid fight was the U18 
team lead by Peter Corrie, Jordan 
McKeown, Sophia Derivan, and Jenny 
Timotin. The team drew with both 
Scotland and Wales, and losing to the 
eventual champions England 1-5.

Irish Universities
The Irish Universities team travelled 
to France from 30th November – 3rd 
December for its 12th consecutive BNP 
Masters Tournament. The Irish team 
was led by Captain Jamie Pilkington 
consisting of Simon Carr, Peter Bothwell, 
Padraig Kilcoyne, Jane Fennelly, and 
Lauren Deegan. The team finished 8th 
with United States winning the overall 
tournament.

Senior Interprovincial 
Championships
The Senior Championships were held  
in Claremorris Tennis Club. Leinster were 

overall winners with Munster in  
2nd place.

Shared Access National Indoor 
Senior Championships
David Lloyd Riverview hosted the senior 
event which took place from 2nd – 6th 
January, a change in dates from previous 
years.  The return of the event to David 
Lloyd Riverview was well received by 
players and this was reflected in the 
entry with full draws in both singles  
and doubles event.  

PR included daily media reports to the 
press and sponsors, website updates 
and daily newsletter circulated to our 
database. Tournament reports were 
posted daily on social media. Press 
coverage of the finals included reports 
in the Irish Examiner and Irish Times 
as well as RTE online. RTE radio also 
covered the finals results in their sports 
news.  

In the senior event Osgar O’Hoisin 
defeated David Mullins in the Men’s 
final 6-7(5) 6-1 6-1. Karola Bejenaru 
defeated the defending champion Ruth 
Copas in the final 6-4 6-1.  
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In the Doubles event Mark Carpenter 
and David Mullins defeated Thomas 
Brennan and Oisin Shaffrey 6-4 6-2 
and  Caragh Courtney and Alison 
O’Dea won against Marie-Perla 
Biansumba and defeated Ciara O’Toole 
in 3 set 6-4, 4-6 and 10-7in the 
championship tie-break.

Senior Interprovincial 
Championships
The event took place in Belfast Boat 
Club on September 8th and 9th. The 
age categories that feature in this 
event range from 35 – 50+ includes 
singles and doubles. Final standings 
were Leinster 34, Ulster 30, Munster 27  
and Connacht 5. 

Veterans
National Veterans events held in 
2017 included the Irish Indoors 
Championships in David Lloyd 
Belfast, The Veteran Championships 
in Templeogue and The Veteran 
Championships of Ireland in  
Lansdowne TC. 

A total of 515 players entered these 
three major events and from this player 
pool the International teams were 
selected to represent Ireland in the ITF 
Team Cups and Four Nations

In 2017, Ireland entered teams in all 
three International ITF World Team 
Championship events.

Young Seniors 2017

The Young Seniors Championships 
took place in Capetown, South Africa 
in March of 2017. Ireland fielded teams 
in W35, W40, M35, M40 and M45. The 
highlight of the performances was in the 
Womens 35 team finishing in 6th place 
overall, an amazing achievement given 
the quality of the field in their event.

• Italia Cup (M35) - Justin Clarke, Gary 
Kilduff, Rob Cherry, David Mullins 
finished in 13th place

• Suzanne Lenglen Cup (W35) - Elaine 
Chambers, Ashley McVeigh, Donna 
McSorley, and Kristine Kournikova 
finished in 6th place.

• Tony Trabert Cup (M40) - Justin 
Smyth, Robert Cummins, Joe 
Cummisky, and Cronan McNamara 
finished in 12th place.

• Young Cup (W40) - Ffyona 
Cunningham, Suzanne Tyrrell and 
Gemma O’Donoghue finished in 
10th place.

• Dubler Cup (M45) – Alan Donnelly, 
Willie Reynolds, Pat McGrath, and 
Eddie Moloney finished in 17th place.

Seniors 2017
The 2017 Seniors Championships took 
place in Miami Beach, Florida, USA from 
29th October to 3rd November.  Ireland 
fielded teams in M50, M55, M60, W50 
and W55 age groups.

• Maria Esther Bueno Cup (W50) - 
Carmel O’Hare, Niamh Kennedy, 
Gillian Chandler, and Una McEntee 
finished in 14th place.

• Maureen Connolly Cup (W55) – Jill 
Little, Connie Creed, Marie Duffy, 
Anne McCarthy, finished in 14th 
place

•  Fred Perry Cup (M50) - Neil Wilson, 
John Conroy, Bernard McCormack, 
Kevin Noble finished in 19th place

• Austria Cup (M55) - Tony Davison, 
John Maguire, Tom Barry, Mark 
Milligan finished in 16th place

• Von Cramm Cup (M60) – Conor 
Woods, Neagle Cathcart, John Joseph 
David Craig, Noel Sheridan finished in 
14th place

Super Seniors 2017
The Super Seniors took place in Lake 
Nona, Florida, USA from 8th – 13th 
October and Ireland fielded teams in 
M65, M70, W65 and W70 events.

• Brittania Cup (M65) - Richard 
McCarthy, William Caldwell, Tim 
Faton, and Conor Sparks finished in 
15th place

• Jack Crawford Cup (M70) – John 
O’Rourke, Ben Cranwell, George 

In 2017, Ireland 
entered teams in all 
three International 
ITF World Team 
Championship events. 
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Lucas, John McAllister finished in 
13th place

• Kitty Godfree Cup (W65) - Margaret 
Broderick, Helen Pollock, Letty Lucas, 
and Pat Cowley finished in 13th place

• Althea Cup (W70) - Michelle Linnane, 
Irene Hewitt, Nadine Hennessy, and 
Margaret McKenna finished in  
11th place

Four Nations Senior Tournament
The Four Nations Seniors Tournament 
was held in April in Glasgow, Scotland 
for men’s and ladies in age groups 35, 
45, and 50.

Scotland were the outright winners  
with Ireland winning the Women’s 50 
age group.

• Ladies 35 Team (4th) – Lena 
O’Connor, Grainne O’Donoghue, 
Joanne Williamson, Christine 
Kournakova

• Ladies 45 Team (4th) – Dee Collins, 
Deirdre McSherry, Wem Hofman, 
Wendy Cree

• Ladies 50 Team (1st) –Niamh 
Kennedy, Carmel O’Hare, Una 
McEntee, Tracy Carruthers

• Men’s 35 Team (4th) – Justin Clarke, 
Stuart McQuitty, Justin Smith, Frank 
O’Keeffe 

• Men’s 45 Team(4th) – Niall Murphy, 
Willie Reynolds, Alan Donnelly, 
Steven Leeman

• Men’s 50 Team (4th) – Kevin Noble, 
Hans Enoksen, Neil Wilson, Bernard 
McCormack

Four Nations Super-Seniors
Ireland hosted the 2018 Super Senior 
Championships and entered an 
agreement with Lansdowne TC to 
bring the event to their fantastic newly 
refurbished facility.  Funding for the 
event was secured from Dublin City 
Council and we are very grateful for their 

support for this event. 

96 male and female players from 
Ireland, England, Scotland and Wales 
in the age categories 55, 60 and 65 
participated in the event 

England won in four of the six events 
with Ireland finishing Runner-up in 
the Men’s 65+ event. The Irish teams 
selected are as follows: -

• Men 55 (4th): Tom Barry, Mark 
Milligan, Martin Ormonde, John 
Maguire

• Men 60 (3rd): William Noteman, 
David Cunningham, Stephen 
Cuthbertson, Conor Woods 

• Men 65 (Rup): Neagle Cathcart, 
Richard McCarthy, Ben Cranwell, Jim 
Canavan 

• Ladies 55 (4th): Gillian Chandler, 
Connie Creed, Ann Naughton     

• Ladies 60 (4th): Ellen McCartney, 
Geraldine Wynne, Pat Cowley, Brenda 
Kennedy 

• Ladies 65 (3rd): Nora Glynn, Mary 
O’Neill, Helen Pollock, Letty Lucas

• Non-playing captain: Michael Wogan

Schools Competition  
Nationwide, there are 125 Secondary 
Schools and 67 Primary Schools 
participating in the Schools 
competitions catering for 3,088 
participants. Schools that are supported 
by the local tennis club are much more 
likely to stay in the leagues and we 
would ask clubs to consider reaching 
out to their local schools to provide the 
courts for their school matches.

Adapted Junior 
Competition

ROGY and Phoenix 
Tennis10’s is a programme for tennis 
players aged 10 and under.  It is played 
on smaller courts with slower Red, 

Orange and Green balls and is a fun 
way to start tennis and makes it easy for 
children to play the game, develop good 
technique and tactics and a love for the 
sport.

Utilising the slower ball helps players 
develop the most efficient technique 
and to be able to implement advanced 
tactics that in most cases could not be 
performed using the yellow ball on the 
full court.

Tennis10s is part of the ITF’s Tennis Play 
and Stay campaign. There are three 
stages of Tennis10s that allow players to 
start at the suitable level for their ability 
- Red (Stage 3), Orange (Stage 2) and 
Green (Stage 1).

The Phoenix tournaments operated by 
Leinster Tennis are specifically designed 
to encourage players with no or little 
competitive experience to participate 
in Open Tournaments. All players are 
guaranteed multiple matches with the 
event run over 2-3 days. Only players 
with limited competitive experience are 
eligible to play and participants can only 
play in their own age group

In 2017, there were 185 events held 
involving up to 2,500 participants.  

Wheelchair Tennis
The ITF World Team Championships 
event was held in Portugal where the 
Irish Team of Stafford Lynn, Garreth 
Greene, Ger Milligan and Ivor Jess 
competed well. The team was led 
by their captain Jim Watt. A pre-
tournament training session at the 
National Tennis Centre was recorded 
and footage was used to promote the 
event and wheelchair tennis.

Ireland were drawn in a group with 
Hungary, Romania and Portugal and 
for the most part were competing 
against opponents with much higher 
international rankings. Despite the 
vast gap in rankings Jim Watt reported 
very competitive matchplay overall, 
the highlight being Garreth Green’s 

way to start tennis and makes it easy for 
children to play the game, develop good 
technique and tactics and a love for the 

Utilising the slower ball helps players 
develop the most efficient technique 
and to be able to implement advanced 
tactics that in most cases could not be 
performed using the yellow ball on the 

Tennis10s is part of the ITF’s Tennis Play 
and Stay campaign. There are three 
stages of Tennis10s that allow players to 
start at the suitable level for their ability 
- Red (Stage 3), Orange (Stage 2) and 
Green (Stage 1).

The Phoenix tournaments operated by 
Leinster Tennis are specifically designed 
to encourage players with no or little 
competitive experience to participate 
in Open Tournaments. All players are 
guaranteed multiple matches with the 
event run over 2-3 days. Only players 
with limited competitive experience are 
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victory over the world number 89 from 
Portugal.

Officiating 
We held two referee courses in 2017 
for those volunteers involved in 
tournament administration, directing 
and refereeing. The first course took 
place over 2 days in the National Tennis 
Centre on the 27th and 28th May 2017 
and this course was fully subscribed with 
21 people in attendance. 

A second course took place in Limerick 
Lawn Tennis Club in November in which 
14 persons attended. All attending were 
actively involved in their Club Opens 
with some expressing an interest in 
officiating at National events. 

Tennis Ireland Strategy
In October 2017, the consultants, Pinta 
were appointed by the Board to assist 
with the development of a new Strategy 
for Tennis in Ireland.

To support the development of this 
strategy a Board appointed Strategy 
Development Group made up of 
representatives from all sectors of the 
sport was established to guide and assist 
with the process.  A comprehensive 
consultation process involving a 
questionnaire, consultation workshops, 
meetings with individual stakeholders 
and staff was delivered and some 
valuable insight into how the sport 
should develop was garnered.

This insight enabled the Strategy Group 
to highlight 6 areas for action; Building 
the Base, Competitions, Coaching, 
Branding and Visibility, Emerging Talent 
and Elite Performance and Supporting 
the Tennis Community.

Key actions in each of the areas were 
outlined and finalised following 
numerous engagements including a 
Summit of all stakeholders in Naas to 
which all clubs were invited to attend.   
The Board approved the Strategy at 

its April meeting and engagements 
with the Provincial Branches are 
underway in relation to planning for its 
implementation. 

Governance
At the 2016 AGM, the Board outlined a 
number of financial strategic priorities 
which would improve planning and 
operational processes across the 
organisation. 

Since then, the Board have worked 
hard with committees, provincial 
representatives and staff to achieve 
these objectives and we are continuing 
to work together to improve our services 
and to further develop the sport. 

The keys areas identified by the 
Board were: 

• Good Corporate Governance

• Presentation of quarterly 
consolidated accounts to Board 

• The reduction of reliance on  
bank overdrafts and the reduction  
of creditors 

• Improving club compliancy  
across capitation, affiliation  
and child protection 

• Improving IT infrastructure

Corporate Governance 
The Board of Tennis Ireland has 
identified improvements in corporate 
governance as a key factor in cultivating 
efficiencies within the company and 
has systematically begun the process of 
making improvements over the last two 
years and will continue to do so in the 
years ahead. 

As outlined previously, for some, this 
change may not be coming quick 
enough, for others it may be coming  
too quickly.

Change is not something that comes 
easily to representative organisations 
such as Tennis Ireland or to any sport 

where there are, of course, disparate 
views as to how the sport should 
respond to changes not only in the 
tennis environment but in society  
as a whole. 

In mid-2017, the Board appointed 
the consultants Prospectus to carry 
out a review of the Governance of the 
Board of Tennis Ireland.  A series of 
recommendations were put forward, 
many of which are in the process 
of being implemented with others 
requiring additional consultation, 
particularly in relation to a review  
of the Articles of Association.

A specific area of improvement related 
to banking and specifically upgrades in 
the structure of the banking facilities 
 we had in place. 

As Tennis Ireland CLG consists of the 
five sub units of Head Office and each 
of the four Provincial Branches, the 
need for a consolidated network of 
bank accounts was proposed in order to 
collect and distribute fees throughout 
the company in a timely, transparent 
and efficient manner. After a number of 
years of endeavouring to achieve this 
task I’m glad to say that a new structure 
of Tennis Ireland nominated accounts 
has replaced the previously  
existing accounts. 

The new banking facilities have been 
established and new current accounts 
and joint accounts with both provincial 
and head office access have been 
opened with uniform authorisation 
controls across the company. 

Each individual signatory has also been 
provided with secure online access. The 
benefits from this move are substantial. 
The distribution of cash throughout 
the organisation is much more timely 
and efficient. As each sub-unit, has 
varying annual cash cycles the company 
has greater flexibility in the internal 
distribution of funds, so interest and 
overdraft charges can be avoided  
where possible. 
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This consolidation of assets also gives 
us a stronger position with the banks 
should we require funding further down 
the line. 

Communication levels have improved 
between each of the sub-units of 
the company also and the flow of 
management information up to Senior 
Management and Board level is much 
more comprehensive and up to date, 
however more improvements need to 
be made.  

To achieve this, the Company the 
company has engaged with Sage 
Live and PWC to implement the roll 
out of a single accounting platform 
companywide to ensure that timely 
and accurate financial information is 
available at all times.

Improving Club 
Compliancy 

Capitation, Affiliation and Child 
Protection 
The Board has highlighted the area 
of affiliation as a key risk factor to the 
organisation.  They have reviewed the 
annual returns received from clubs 
over the past number of years and 
with guidance from Sport Ireland and 
consultation with other sporting bodies, 
the Board passed a resolution that in 
order for a club to continue affiliation to 
Tennis Ireland, they would be mandated 

to declare their compliancy with the 
safeguarding children policy, declare 
their membership figures and send in a 
copy of the page of their accounts that 
relate to membership income.

Comprehensive processes were 
incorporated across the company to 
ensure that this was enforced. The 
Board regularly look at compliancy rates 
and sanctions such as not allowing clubs 
to receive a permit for tournaments 
or attend Branch or General meetings 
proved to be an effective tool for 
securing compliance. 

The process of ensuring compliancy 
will be a key objective of the Board in 
the coming years as we seek to grow 
our sport and fund the services to our 
members.

Code of Governance 
Good Governance should be at the 
cornerstone of all sports in Ireland and 
our Sport is no different. 

We have worked very closely with our 
key statutory funding partners, Sport 
Ireland and Sport Northern Ireland, 
throughout the year in relation to 
making continuous improvements in 
our processes and procedures. 

Following a directive from the Minister 
at the Department of Transport, Tourism 
and Sport, all National Governing 
Bodies must be fully compliant with the 

Governance Code which is a  
Code of Practice for the good 
governance of Community,  
Voluntary and Charitable Organisations 
in Ireland by January 2019. 

To achieve this, the board and staff have 
undertaken a significant amount of 
work to ensure that our sport complies 
with the criteria set down in the 
Governance Code. Our compliance with 
the Code now stands at 100% and the 
Chairman has signed The Governance 
Code: Principles of Good Governance 
and submitted  it to the Govenrnace 
Code Office so that Tennis Ireland is 
listed as being compliant with the code.

A further development in this area 
has been the development of a new 
company wide Employee Handbook 
which will be presented to staff shortly. 
The handbook also outlines a newly 
developed whistleblowing policy for 
Tennis Ireland. 
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2017 Irish Open Veterans Championships 33rd Veterans National Tennis Championships
RSA NI Insurance LTD Irish Veterans’  

Indoor Championships 2018

Winner Runner up Winner Runner up Winner Runner up

MS35 Rob Cherry Justin Clarke Fabio Molle Justin Clarke John Abosi Fabio Molle

WS35 Ewelina Berdychowska Ashley Mcveigh Lena O’Connor Sandra Moore Sandra Moore Lauren Smythe

MS40 Conor D’Arcy Martin Hughes David King John Reidy Justin Clarke Alex Iliev

WS40 Deirdre Johnston Louise D’Arcy Ffyona Cunningham Antoinette O’Keeffe  Yuan Yuan Lu-Flanagan Ffyona Cunningham

MS45 Thomas Rochford Michel Davitt Bryan Forgaty Denis Breen William Reynolds Robert Cummins

WS45 Deirdre McSherry Wendy Cree Catriona Hannigan Aine Goff Deirdre Johnston Antoinette O'Keeffe

MS50 Kevin Noble Bernard McCormack Kevin Noble John Conroy  Hans-Henrik Enoksen Neil Wilson

WS50 Una McEntee Niamh Kennedy Niamh Kennedy Gillian Chandler Gemma O'Rourke Wendy Cree

MS55 William Noteman Tom Barry Tom Barry Pat Smith Tony Davison Tom Barry

WS55 Connie Creed Gillian Chandler Niamh Kennedy Gillian Chandler

MS60 David Cunningham Jimmy Wilson John Hefferenan David Cunningham David Cunningham Robbie Harold

WS60 Pat Hurley Pat Cowley Betty Maitland Geraldine Fredlander

MS65 Richard P. McCarthy Jim Canavan Richard McCarthy Tony Farrell Bryan Bailie Paddy Rogan

WS65 Norah Glynn Pat Cowley Pat Cowley Mary Barry

MS70 John O’Rourke Patrick Dowling Hugh Harrington Martin Daly Richard P. McCarthy Hugh Harrington

WS70 Norah Glynn Michelle Linnane Norah Glynn Irene Hewitt

MS75 Tadgh Kennelly Dave Young Donal McGoldrick Frank Aiken Paddy Brockerton Frank Aiken

MD35
Oscar Borras/ Federico 
Raffo

Stephen Gill/Rob 
Neiland 

Paul Barry / Glyn Exshaw
Michael Ramenaden / 
Damien Walsh

John Abosi / Fabio Molle
Andrew Jones / Frank 
O'Keeffe

WD35
Grainne O’Donoghue/ Jo 
Anne Williamson 

Deirdre Johnston/
Ashley Mcveigh

Ashley Mcveigh / Lena 
O’Connor

Claire Litton / Donna Mc 
Sorley

Deirdre Collins / Grainne 
O'Donoghue

Heidi Higgins / Ashley 
McVeigh

MD40
Conor D’Arcy/ William 
Reynolds

Steven Leeman/
William Noteman

Robert M Cummins / John 
Reidy 

Ben Cronin / Donagh 
Cronin

Justin Clarke / Willie Reynolds
Brian McCrandall / Jim 
Watt

WD40
Grainne O’Donoghue/ Jo 
Anne Williamson 

Deirdre McSherry/
Suzanne Tyrell

Ffyona Cunningham / 
Antoinette O’Keeffe

Sarah Mcbride / Debbie 
Whelan

"Grainne O'Donoghue/ 
 Jo Anne Williamson “

Deirdre Collins / Yuan-
Yuan Lu-Flanagan

MD45
Liam Cassidy/ Michel 
Davitt 

Steven Leeman/
William Reynolds

Denis Breen / Ben Cronin 
Bryan Fogarty / Patrick 
Mcgrath

Steven Leeman / Carlos 
Miranda

Robert Cummins / 
Brendan Halligan

WD45
Sheila Kilduff/ Annmarie 
O’Grady

Wendy Cree/Amanda 
Leeman 

Jennifer Haugh  / Un Ryle
Emma Black / Brenda 
Mccleary

Deirdre Collins / JoAnne 
Williamson

Deirdre McSHerry/Toni 
O'Keeffe

MD50 Conor Carroll/ John Conroy
Roy Bailey/Stephen 
Bailey

John Conroy / Kevin Noble
Brendan Halligan / Joe 
Smyth

Liam Cassidy / Hans-Erik 
Henoksen

Tim Blomley / Godfrey 
Gaston

WD50
Gail Moloney/ Annette 
Smith

Gillian Chandler/
Niamh Kennedy

Gillian Chandler / Niamh 
Kennedy 

Katherine Morrissey / 
Un Ryle

Tracy Caruthers / Wendy Cree
Anne McCarthy / Ann 
Naughton

MD55 Tom Barry/ Mark Milligan
Mike Bermingham/ 
Peter McCabe

Tom Barry  / William Guiry
Donal Hegarty / John 
Maguire

William Guiry / Mark Milligan Tom Crotty / John Goggin

WD55 Jean Baker/ Tina Meehan
Anne McCarthy/Ann 
Naughton

Marie Duffy  / Gail O’Meara 
Anne Mccarthy  / Ann 
Naughton

Anne McCarthy / Ann 
Naughton

"Gillian Chandler/ 
Niamh Kennedy”

MD60
David Cunningham/ 
Stephen Cuthbertson 

David Craig/Noel 
Sheridan

David Cunningham  / 
Stephen Cuthbertson

Trevor Long / Vincent 
Quirke

"David Cunningham/ 
Stephen Cuthbertson “

John Goggin / Conor 
Woods

WD60
Patricia Dwyer/ Geraldine 
Wynne 

Clare Morris/Mary 
Mulherin

Mary Donnelly / Pat Hurley Mary Barry / Rose Holohan Audrey Holmes / Jane Sterritt
Ann Darragh / Helen 
McCartney

MD65
George Lucas/ Richard P 
McCarthy 

Jim Canavan/Conor 
Sparks 

Damien Kelly / Michael 
Kelly

Tony Farrell / Conor Sparks
"George Lucas/ 
Richard P McCarthy “

Clifford McIlvaine / Noel 
Robinson

WD65
Norah Glynn/Michelle 
Linnane

Letty Lucas/Helen 
Pollock

Mary Barry  / Pat Cowley
Suzanne Hayes / Kalene 
Kenefick

"Letty Lucas/ 
Helen Pollock”

Irene Hewitt/ Michelle 
Linnane

MD70
George Lucas/ John 
McAllister

John Dinan/Patrick 
Dowling 

Brendan Boylan / William 
Hanover 

Edmund Curran  / Martin 
J Daly

“George Lucas/  
John McAllister"

Noel Campbell / John 
McBride

WD70
Felicity Black / Irene 
Higgins 

Norah Glynn / Michelle 
Linnane

Norah Glynn 
Michelle Linnane

Hilary McBride / Olivia 
Seery

MD75
Simon Gordon/ Dave 
Young

Roddy Feely/Sean 
O’Dwyer

William Hanover / Donal 
Mcgoldrick

Frank Aiken / Gerry Cleary
Paddy Brockerton / Peter 
Clarke

Frank Aiken / Tony 
O'Donoghue

U14 U18s Senior

Winner Munster Leinster Leinster

Runner Up Leinster Ulster Munster

Senior Veterans

M35 M40 M45 M50 W35 W40 W45 W50

Winner Leinster Leinster Ulster Ulster Munster Leinster Leinster Munster

Runner Up Ulster Munster Leinster Leinster Ulster Munster Munster Leinster

Super Senior Veterans

M55 M60 M65 M70 M75 M80 W55 W60 W65 W70

Winner Leinster Leinster Leinsetr Leinster Munster Leinster Munster Leinster Leinster Leinster

Runner Up Ulster Ulster Connacht Ulster Ulster Munster Leinster Ulster Ulster Connacht

Interprovincials  
2017

28



29

Tennis Ireland   |  Annual Report 2017

National Indoor  Seniors *Played 1st week 2018

Men’s Ladies Men’s Doubles Ladies Doubles

Winner Osgar O'Hoisin Karola Bejenaru Mark Carpenter / David Mullins Caragh Courtney / Alison O’Dea

runner Up David Mullins Ruth Copas Thomas Brennan / Oisin Shaffrey Marie-Perla Biansumba / Ciara O’Toole

Davis Cup Europe/Africa Zone Group III 2017

Team Pool D Promotion play-off

James McGee Ireland 3 - Andorra 0 Ireland 2 - Bulgaria 1

Sam Barry Ireland 3 - Kosovo 0

David O’Hare Ireland 2 Montenegro 1

Peter Bothwell

Conor Niland (capt)

Davis Cup Europe/Africa Zone Group II 2018

1st Round Play-off

Ireland 1 - Denmark 4 Ireland 1 - Norway 3

Peter Bothwell Peter Bothwell

Samuel Bothwell Samuel Bothwell

Julian Bradley Julian Bradley

Simon Carr Simon Carr

Osgar O'Hoisin Daniel Glancy

Conor Niland (capt) Conor Niland (capt)

ITF Young Seniors World Team Championships

Team Position

Men 35
Justin Clarke, Gary Kilduff, Rob Cherry, David 
Mullins

13

Women 35
Elaine Chambers, Ashley McVeigh, Donna 
McSorley, Kristine Kournikova

6

Men 40
Justin Smyth, Robert Cummins, Joe 
Cummisky, Cronan McNamara

12

Women 40
Ffyona Cunningham, Suzanne Tyrrell, Gemma 
O’Donoghue

10

Men 45
Alan Donnelly, Willie Reynolds, Pat McGrath, 
Eddie Moloney

17

ITF Seniors World Team Championships

Team Position

Men 50
Neil Wilson, John Conroy, Bernard 
McCormack, Kevin Noble

19

Women 50
Carmel O’Hare, Niamh Kennedy, Gillian 
Chandler, and Una McEntee

14

Men 55
Tony Davison, John Maguire, Tom Barry, Mark 
Milligan 

16

Women 55
Jill Little, Connie Creed, Marie Duffy, Anne 
McCarthy

14

Men 60
Conor Woods, Neagle Cathcart, John Joseph 
David Craig, Noel Sheridan

14

ITF SUPER-SENIORS WORLD TEAM CHAMPIONSHIPS

Team Position

Men 65 Richard McCarthy, William Caldwell, Tim Faton, and Conor Sparks 15

Women 65 Margaret-Ann Broderick, Helen Pollock, Letty Lucas, and Pat Cowley 13

Men 70 Richard McCarthy, William Caldwell, Tim Faton, and Conor Sparks 13

Women 70 Michelle Linnane, Irene Hewitt, Nadine Hennessy, and Margaret McKenna 11

Fed Cup Europe / Africa Group III 2018

Team Pool B 5th - 6th Playoff

Amy Bowtell Ireland 1 - Morocco 2 Ireland 3 - Montenegro 0

Ruth Copas Ireland 0 - Malta 3

Jane Fennelly Ireland 3 - Uganda 0

Lauren Deegan

Yvonne Doyle (cap)

Fed Cup Europe / Africa Group III 2017

Team Pool B 5th - 8th Playoff

Jane Fennelly Ireland 0 - Cyprus 3 Ireland 1 - Morocco 2

Jennifer Timotin Ireland 2 - Kenya 1

Ruth Copas Ireland 3 - Iceland 0

Sophia Derivan

Yvonne Doyle (cap)

Four Nations Senior Tournament

Ladies 35 Ladies 45 Ladies 50 Men 35 Men 45 Men 50

Position 4 4 1 4 4 4

1 Scotland (22 
pts)

Lena O’Connor Dee Collins
Niamh 
Kennedy

Justin Clarke Niall Murphy Kevin Noble

2 Wales (15 
pts)

Grainne 
O’Donoghue

Deirdre 
McSHerry

Carmel 
O’Hare

Stuart 
McQuitty

Willie 
Reynolds

Hans Enoksen

3 England (14 
pts)

Jo-Anne 
Williamson

Wen Hofman Una McEntee Justin Smyth Alan Donnely Neil Wilson

4 Ireland 
(9pts)

Christine 
Kournikova

Wendy Cree
Tracy 
Carruthers

Frank O’Keeffe
Steven 
Leeman

Bernard 
McCormack

Four Nations Junior Tournament

Under 12 Under 14 Under 18

Roy Keegan Arthur O’Sullivan Peter Corrie

Sean O’Nuallain Freddy Murray Jordan McKeown

Coco-Elise Lynn 
Browne

Julianna Carton Sophia Derivan

Alannah 
Wilkinson

Olwyn Ryan-Bovey Jennifer Timotin

1 England 6pts 1 Scotland 5pts 1 England 4pts

2 Ireland 3pts 2 England 4pts 2 Wales 4pts

3 Wales 2pts 3 Ireland 3pts 3 Scotland 2pts

4 Scotland 1pt 4 Wales 0pts 4 Ireland 2pts
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DLTC WinterLeague 2018

Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 Class 4 Class 5 Class 6 Class 7

Men Winner Fitzwilliam Castleknock Leopardstown Meadowvale Sandycove Terenure Elm Park

Runner Up Naas Portmarnock Elm Park Clane Elm Park Glenalbyn David Lloyd Riverview

Women Winner Fitzwilliam Sutton Clontarf David Lloyd Riverview Stackallen Clontarf Donabate

Runner Up Naas Lansdowne Trinity Portmarnock Terenure Naas Clontarf Parish

DLTC Summer League 2017

Premier Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 Class 4 Class 5 Class 6 Class 7

Men Winner Greystones Castleknock Malahide Castleknock Co Wicklow Stackallen Ratoath

Runner Up Fitzwilliam Monkstown Rathgar Portmarnock Malahide Glenageary Donabate

Women Winner David Lloyd Riverview Fitzwilliam Mount Pleasant Clontarf Sutton Clontarf Terenure Fitzwilliam

Runner Up Malahide Clontarf Donnybrook Clontarf Wicklow Town Portmarnock Mount Pleasant Donabate

Munster Branch Winter League 2017/2018

Premier Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6

Ladies Winner Nenagh Nenagh Ballinlough Bishopstown

Runner Up Causeway Bishopstown Lakewood Carrigaline

Men Winner Nenagh Monkstown Cork Monkstown Cork Douglas

Runner Up Lower Aghada Catholic Institude Clonakilty Ennis

Mixed Winner Sunday’s Well Nenagh Catholic Institute Nenagh Carrigaline Ballinlough A

Runner Up Limerick Lawn Whitechurch Whitechurch Sunday’s Well Monkstown Cork Ballinlough B

Singles Leagues 2017

Div 1 Div 2 Div 3 Div 4 Div 5

Winner Hilden A Ballynafeigh ATT Larne B Donaghadee B

Runner Up Windsor Larne Ballycastle Cavehill Cloughey

Winner Hawarden A Belfast Boat Club A Ballymena

Runner Up Ballynafeigh Larne Belfast Boat Club

Singles Leagues 2017

Div 1 Div 2 Div 3 Div 4 Div 5

Winner Hilden A Ballynafeigh ATT Larne B Donaghadee B

Runner Up Windsor Larne Ballycastle Cavehill Cloughey

Winner Hawarden A Belfast Boat Club A Ballymena

Runner Up Ballynafeigh Larne Belfast Boat Club

Belfast and District Floodlit Leagues 2017/18

Div 1 Div 2

Winner Hilden Downpatrick

Runner Up Banbridge Ballymena

Belfast and District Winter Leagues 2017

Div 1 Div 2

Winner Windsor

Winner CIYMS A Civil Service

Runner Up Downshire CIYMS

Belfast and District Autumn Leagues 2017

Div 1 Div 2 Div3

Winner Ballynafeigh Hilden

Runner Up Bangor Portadown

Winner Bangor Downshire Ballycastle

Runner Up Hilden Windsor CIYMS

Mixed Leagues 2017

Div 1 Div 2 Div 3 Div 4 Div 5 Div 6 Div 7 Div 8 Div 9 Div 10

Winner Hawarden A David Lloyd A Banbridge A CIYMS B Muckamore Bangor D Larne C Cavehill B Larne E Banbridge C

Summer Leagues 2017

Div 1 Div 2 Div 3 Div 4 Div 5 Div 6 Div 7 Div 8 Donaghadee Portadown

Winner Larne A Hilden Windsor B Larne C Whitehead A Larne D Downpatrick B Lurgan B

Runner Up Ballynafeigh Hawarden Portadown Windsor Ballymena Ballycastle Newcastle Downshire

Evergreen Leagues 2017

Div 1 Div 2 Div 3 Div 4

Winner Bangor A Cavehill A Ballymena Downpatrick

Winner Downshire A Downshire B CIYMS Ballynafeigh

Juvenile Leagues 2017

Div 1 Div 2 Div 3 Div 4 Div 5 Div 6

U18 Boys Winner Hawarden Ballycastle Banbridge Newcastle CIYMS

Runner Up Belfast Boat Club Downshire Downpatrick Donaghadee Cavehill

U18 Girls Winner Hawarden Downpatrick Ballynafeigh

Runner Up CIYMS Newcastle

U14 Boys Winner Belfast Boat Club A Windsor Bangor Banbridge A Helen’s Bay Coleraine

Runner Up Coughey Coleraine Ballymena Donaghadee CIYMS Downshire

U14 Girls Winner Belfast Boat Club A Belfast Boat Club B Cloughey

Runner Up David Lloyd Belfast Downshire Coleraine

B&D Juvenile Challenge Trophies 2017

Boys Winner Newcastle Windsor

Girls Winner Downpatrick Downshire
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The directors present their annual report and the audited 
financial statements for the financial year ended  
31 December 2017.

Principal activities
Tennis Ireland is a company limited by guarantee and without 
a share capital. The company has a total of eleven directors 
who work closely with the chief executive.

Tennis Ireland is the national governing body for the sport of 
tennis in Ireland. Founded in 1908, it has approximately 200 
affiliated clubs and the combined membership of these clubs 
is estimated at 45,000 registered members with an additional 
35,000 recreational players. Tennis Ireland stages various 
local, regional and national competitions, professional events 
and also competes in the Federation Cup and Davis Cup. It 
also operates a variety of development programmes at local, 
regional and national level for players of all ages and abilities.

Tennis Ireland has five broad areas of responsibility as follows:

Administration and regulating the sport at all levels

Organising competitions at all levels.

Developing the sport through the delivery of key 
development programmes at local, regional and national 
level.

The management and development of the National Tennis 
Academy at DCU together with the various national and 
provincial development programmes which support this 
initiative.

Promoting and advocating the sport to key stakeholders 
such as government and media.

Results and dividends
The loss for the financial year, after taxation, amounted to 
€77,794 (2016 -profit €133,801).

Directors
The directors who served during the financial year were:  
John Delaney 
Kieran Tobin 
Olwyn Raftery (resigned 2 December 2017) 
David Barber 
Clifford Carroll 
George Lucas (resigned 27 January 2017)  
Joseph Power 
Stephen Reid  
William Meehan  
James Cahill  
George Stevenson 
Richard Fahey (appointed 17 August 2017) 
Shane Cooke (appointed 24 June 2017)

Principal risks and uncertainties
Economic risk

The ability of the company to generate income is directly linked 
to the health of the economy. Subscriptions, government grants 
and sponsorship reduce in recessionary times and these risks 
are managed to ensure adequate reserves are in place to absorb 
fluctuations and programmes are flexible in terms of cost.

Financial risk

The directors of the company closely monitor the company’s 
trading activities to manage credit, liquidity and other financial risk.

Accounting records
The measures taken by the directors to ensure compliance with 
the requirements of Sections 281 to 285 of the Companies Act 
2014 with regard to the keeping of accounting records, are the 
employment of appropriately qualified accounting personnel 
and the maintenance of computerised accounting systems. The 
company’s accounting records are maintained at the company’s 
registered office at Dublin City University, Glasnevin, Dublin 9.

Events since the end of the year
There have been no significant events affecting the company 
since year end.

Future developments
The company plans to continue its present activities.

Statement on relevant audit information
Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this 
Directors’ report is approved has confirmed that:

• so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware, 
and

•  the director has taken all the steps that ought to have been 
taken as a director in order to be aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are 
aware of that information.

Auditors
The auditors, Grant Thornton, continue in office in accordance 
with section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014. 

This report was approved by the board and signed on  
its behalf.

John Delaney David Barber 
Director Director

Date:18 May 2018

Director’s Report 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
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The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ 
report and the financial statements in accordance with Irish 
law and regulations.

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare the 
financial statements for each financial year. Under the 
law, the directors have elected to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with Irish Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in Ireland, including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ and promulgated by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland and Irish law.

Under company law, the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial 
position of the Company as at the financial year end date, of 
the profit or loss of the Company for that financial year and 
otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014 and  the 
Companies (Accounting) Act 2017.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are 
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies for the company’s 
financial statements and then apply them consistently;

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether the financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with applicable accounting 
standards, identify those standards, and note the effect 
and the reasons for any material departure from those 
standards; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company 
keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records 
which correctly explain and record the transactions of the 
Company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit or loss of the Company to be determined 
with reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements and Directors’ report comply with the 
Companies Act 2014 and enable the financial statements 
to be audited. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and  
other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the Company’s website. Legislation in Republic of Ireland 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

On behalf of the board

John Delaney David Barber  
Director Director

Date:18 May 2018

Directors’ responsibilities statement 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Tennis Ireland 
Company Limited by Guarantee , which comprise the 
Statement of comprehensive income, the Balance sheet, 
the Statement of cash flows, the Statement of changes in 
equity for the financial year ended 31 December 2017, and 
the related notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation of the financial statements is Irish law 
and accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Ireland including FRS 102 ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland’.(Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland).

In our opinion, Tennis Ireland Company Limited by 
Guarantee’s financial statements:

• give a true and fair view in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland of the assets, 
liabilities and financial position of the Company as at 31 
December 2017 and of its financial performance and 
cash flows for the financial year then ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2014 and the 
Companies (Accounting) Act 2017.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the ‘responsibilities of the auditor for 
the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
financial statements in Ireland, namely the Irish Auditing and 
Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA) Ethical Standard 
concerning the integrity, objectivity and independence of 
the auditor, and the ethical pronouncements established by 
Chartered Accountants Ireland, applied as determined to 
be appropriate in the circumstances for the entity. We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (Ireland) require us to 
report to you where:

• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 
is not appropriate; or

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
for a period of at least twelve months from the date when 
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
Other information comprises information included in the 
Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the 
other information. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies in the 
financial statements, we are required to determine whether 
there is a material misstatement in the financial statements 
or a material misstatement of the other information. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
the Companies Act 2014 and the Companies 
(Accounting) Act 2017
• We have obtained all the information and explanations 

which we consider necessary for the purposes of our 
audit.

• In our opinion the accounting records of the Company 
were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be 
readily and properly audited.

• The financial statements are in agreement with the 
accounting records.

• In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ 
report is consistent with the financial statements. Based 
solely on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, 
in our opinion, the Directors’ report has been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2014 and the Companies (Accounting) Act 2017.

Independent auditors’ report to the members of  
Tennis Ireland Company Limited by Guarantee 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
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Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception
Based on our knowledge and understanding of the 
Company and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the 
Directors’ report.

Under the Companies Act 2014, we are required to report 
to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration and transactions specified by sections 305 to 
312 of the Acts have not been made. We have no exceptions 
to report arising from this responsibility.

Responsibilities of the management and those 
charged with governance for the financial 
statements
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities 
statement, management is responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements which give a true and fair view 
in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
in Ireland, including FRS102, and for such internal control 
as they determine necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the management either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the 
financial statements
The auditor’s objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), the 
auditor will exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. They will also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion of the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If they conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, they are required to draw 
attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify their opinion. Their conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
the auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves a true and fair view.

The Auditor shall communicate with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
may be identified during the audit.

Independent auditors’ report to the members of  
Tennis Ireland Company Limited by Guarantee (continued) 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we 
owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as 
a body, in accordance with section 391 of the Companies 
Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Company’s members those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company 
and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Noel Delaney, FCA 
for and on behalf of

Grant Thornton

Chartered Accountants 
& Statutory Audit Firm 
Molyneux House 
Bride Street 
Dublin 8

 
18 May 2018

Independent auditors’ report to the members of  
Tennis Ireland Company Limited by Guarantee (continued) 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
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Statement of comprehensive income

For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016

Note € €

Turnover 4 2,466,836 2,212,347

Gross profit 2,466,836 2,212,347

Administrative expenses (2,544,630) (2,119,617)

Other operating income 5 - 41,071

Operating (loss)/profit 6 (77,794) 133,801

(Loss)/profit for the financial year (77,794) 133,801

Other comprehensive income for the financial year

Total comprehensive income for the financial year  (77,794) 133,801

The notes on pages 12 to 22 form part of these financial statements.
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Balance sheet

As at 31 December 2017

2017 2016

Note € €

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 9 1,367,476 1,500,410

Investments 10 962 962

1,368,438 1,501,372

Current assets

Stocks 11 1,657 1,657

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 12 239,770 168,272

Cash at bank and in hand 13 585,562 586,319

826,989 756,248

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (442,561) (344,846)

Net current assets 384,428 411,402

Total assets less current liabilities 1,752,866 1,912,774

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 15 (903,252) (985,366)

Net assets 849,614 927,408

Capital and reserves

Profit and loss account 17 849,614 927,408

Shareholders’ funds  849,614 927,408

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board:

John Delaney David Barber 
Director Director

Date:18 May 2018
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Statement of changes in equity

For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Statement of changes in equity

For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Profit and loss 
account

Total equity

Note € €

At 1 January 2017 927,408 927,408

Comprehensive income for the financial year

Loss for the financial year (77,794) (77,794)

At 31 December 2017 849,614 849,614

Profit and loss 
account

Total equity

Note € €

At 1 January 2017 793,607 793,607

Comprehensive income for the financial year

Loss for the financial year 133,801 133,801

At 31 December 2017 927,408 927,408

The notes on pages 12 to 22 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows

For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016

Note € €

Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/profit for the financial year (77,794) 133,801

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets (82,114) (82,114)

Depreciation of tangible assets 141,959 174,320

(Increase) in debtors (71,498)  (30,277)

Increase/(decrease) in creditors 97,715 (78,077)

Net cash generated from operating activities 8,268 117,653

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (9,025) (21,932)

Net cash from investing activities (9,025) (21,932)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (757) 95,721

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 586,319 490,598

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 585,562 586,319

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year comprise:

Cash at bank and in hand 585,562 586,319

585,562 586,319

The notes on pages 12 to 22 form part of these financial statements.
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1. General information
Tennis Ireland CLG is a company limited by guarantee, 
having no share capital and incorporated in Ireland 
(Registered number 342413) with a registered office 
at Dublin City University, Glasnevin, Dublin 9. It is a 
registered sports body.

2. Accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention unless otherwise specified 
within these accounting policies and in accordance with 
Section 1A of Financial Reporting Standard 102, the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
the Republic of Ireland and the Companies Act 2014 and 
the Companys (Accounting ) Act 2017.

The following principal accounting policies have been 
applied:

2.2 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 
and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is 
measured as the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, value added 
tax and other sales taxes.

The following criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognised:

Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised 
in the period in which the services are provided in 
accordance with the stage of completion of the contract 
when all of the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the Company will receive the 
consideration due under the contract;

• the stage of completion of the contract at the end of 
the reporting period can be measured

• reliably; and

• the costs incurred and the costs to complete the 
contract can be measured reliably.

2.3 Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the 
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to 
be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management.

2.3  Tangible fixed assets (continued)

Depreciation

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of 
assets less their residual value over their estimated useful 
lives, using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided on the following basis:

National indoor training centre - 4.04% straight line

Equipment, fixtures & fittings - 25% reducing balance

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation 
methods are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if 
appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant 
change since the last reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and 
are recognised in the Statement of comprehensive 
income.

2.4 Valuation of investments

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment.

Investments in unlisted Company shares, whose market 
value can be reliably determined, are remeasured 
to market value at each balance sheet date. Gains 
and losses on remeasurement are recognised in the 
Statement of comprehensive income for the period. 
Where market value cannot be reliably determined, such 
investments are stated at historic cost less impairment.

Investments in listed company shares are remeasured 
to market value at each Balance sheet date. Gains and 
losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss 
for the period.

2.5 Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value, being the estimated selling price less costs to 
complete and sell. Cost is based on the cost of purchase 
on a first in, first outbasis. Work in progress and finished 
goods include labour and attributable overheads.

At each balance sheet date, stocks are assessed for 
impairment. If stock is impaired, the carrying amount is 
reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell. 
The impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
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2.6 Debtors

Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, 
less any impairment. Loans receivable are measured 
initially at fair value, including transaction costs, and 
are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment.

2.7 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with 
financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice 
of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly 
liquid investments that mature in no more than three 
months from the date of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value.

In the Statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the 
Company’s cash management.

2.8 Financial instruments

The Company only enters into basic financial instrument 
transactions that result in the recognition of financial 
assets and liabilities like trade and other debtors and 
creditors, loans from banks and other third parties, loans 
to related parties and investments in non-puttable 
ordinary shares.

Debt instruments (other than those wholly repayable 
or receivable within one year), including loans and 
other accounts receivable and payable, are initially 
measured at present value of the future cash flows 
and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Debt instruments that are payable or 
receivable within one year, typically trade debtors and 
creditors, are measured, initially and subsequently, at the 
undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration 
expected to be paid or received. However, if the 
arrangements of a short-term instrument constitute a 
financing transaction, like the payment of a trade debt 
deferred beyond normal business terms or financed at 
a rate of interest that is not a market rate or in the case 
of an out-right short-term loan not at market rate, the 
financial asset or liability is measured, initially, at the 
present value of the future cash flow discounted at a 
market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument and 
subsequently at amortised cost.

Investments in non-convertible preference shares and 
in non-puttable ordinary and preference shares are 
measured:

• at fair value with changes recognised in the 
Statement of comprehensive income if the shares 
are publicly traded or their fair value can otherwise 
be measured reliably;

• at cost less impairment for all other investments.

Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised 
cost are assessed at the end of each reporting period for 
objective evidence of impairment. If objective evidence 
of impairment is found, an impairment loss is recognised 
in the Statement of comprehensive income.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the 
impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
an asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. If a financial asset has a variable 
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate 
determined under the contract.

For financial assets measured at cost less impairment, the 
impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
an asset’s carrying amount and best estimate of the 
recoverable amount, which is an approximation of the 
amount that the Company would receive for the asset if 
it were to be sold at the balance sheet date.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount reported in the Balance sheet when there is an 
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.8  Financial instruments (continued)

Derivatives, including interest rate swaps and forward 
foreign exchange contracts, are not basic financial 
instruments. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in 
profit or loss in finance costs or income as appropriate. 
The company does not currently apply hedge accounting 
for interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives.

2.9  Creditors

Short term creditors are measured at the transaction 
price. Other financial liabilities, including bank loans, 
are measured initially at fair value, including transaction 
costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
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2.10  Government grants

Grants are accounted under the accruals model as 
permitted by FRS 102. Grants relating to expenditure 
on tangible fixed assets are credited to the Statement 
of comprehensive income at the same rate as the 
depreciation on the assets to which the grant relates. 
The deferred element of grants is included in creditors as 
deferred income.

Grants of a revenue nature are recognised in the 
Statement of comprehensive income in the same period 
as the related expenditure.

2.11 Pensions

Defined contribution pension plan 

The Company operates a defined contribution plan for its 
employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan 
under which the Company pays fixed contributions into 
a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid 
the Company has no further payment obligations.

The contributions are recognised as an expense in 
the Statement of comprehensive income when they 
fall due. Amounts not paid are shown in accruals as a 
liability in the Balance sheet. The assets of the plan are 
held separately from the Company in independently 
administered funds.

2.12  Taxation

The company is exempt from corporation tax as a 
sporting body. The company does not carry out its 
activities for gain and accordingly has not provided for 
corporation tax.

3. Judgments in applying accounting policies and 
key sources of estimation uncertainty
Preparation of the financial statements requires 
management to make significant judgements  
and estimates.

The items in the financial statements where these 
judgments and estimates have been made include:

Useful lives of depreciable assets

The annual depreciation charge depends primarily on 
the estimated lives of each type and component of asset 
and, in certain circumstances, estimates of fair values 
and residual values. The directors annually review these 
asset lives and adjust them as necessary to reflect current 
thinking on remaining lives in light of technological 
change, prospective economic utilisation and physical 
condition of the assets concerned.

Changes in asset lives can have significant impact on 
depreciation charges for the period. It is not practical 
to quantify the impact of changes in asset lives on an 
overall basis, as asset lives are individually determined, 
and there are a significant number of asset lives in 
use. The impact of any change would vary significantly 
depending on the individual changes in assets and the 
classes of assets impacted.

Change in accounting estimate

During the year, management made a judgment to 
change depreciation rate for National Tennis Centre. 
The life of the asset was originally set at 20 years and 
the asset has been depreciating on a staright -line 
basis in that time. The remaining useful life of the asset 
calculated at the current rate would be a further 9 years 
taking it to 31st December 2025.

In making the judgement to change the depreciation 
rate, management considered a number of factors.

The company has access to capital grant funding which 
allows the company to maintain the standard of the 
centre as an international training facility. It allows the 
company to resurface the courts every 4 years, ensure 
quality lightining and the general upkeep of the centre is 
maintained to the appropriate standard without having 
to absorb a significant financial outlay. The company 
has secured capital grant funding from the government 
totalling €80,000 which will allow the installation of a 
top-quality clay system, the first of its kind in the country.

The revenues generated through the centre is limited 
only by capacity and the National Squad and Leinster 
squad utilise the facility on a daily basis. It is anticipated 
that there will be further pressure put on capacity in the 
coming years with the introduction of the Strategic Plan 
and further growth anticipated in the regional squads.

The grant from the Department of Transport, Tourism 
and Sport received for the purposes of the construction 
of the National Training Centre and maintain the centre 
as a tennis training facility has a requirement to use the 
asset for the original purposes outlined for a period of 20 
years. This will bring the lifetime of the asset to 2028.

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
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4. Turnover
An analysis of turnover by class of business is as follows:

Analysis of grant income from Sport Ireland:

2017 2016

Note € €

Club affiliation fees 81,451 71,832

Player capitation fees 550,378 508,060

Tournament permit fees 23,625 24,724

Tournament caption fees 99,860 98,478

National training centre fees 248,425 260,847

Sponsorship 97,338 84,615

Development income 91,571 103,100

Coaching income 322,015 246,840

Tournament income 230,868 143,531

Court hire 23,933 23,318

Garda vetting 4,925 5,637

Sport Ireland grant 555,834 532,730

Sport Northern Ireland 58,012 108,635

Enjoy tennis income 78,601  -

2,466,836 2,212,347

Club affiliation and players capitation fees are those received by the company from affiliated clubs and their members.

Government grants are those received from the Sport Ireland, the National Lottery and Sport Northern Ireland.

2017 2016

Note € €

Sport Ireland - Core Grant 363,000 363,000

Sport Ireland - High Performance 179,200 169,730

Sport Ireland - Player Grant 13,635 -

555,835 532,730

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
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5. Other operating income

6. (Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before taxation
The operating (loss)/profit is stated after charging:

7. Employees
The average monthly number of employees, including the directors, during the financial year was as follows:

8. Directors’ remuneration

2017 2016

Note € €

Insurance claims receivable - 41,071

2017 2016

Note € €

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 141,959 174,320

Defined contribution pension cost 6,750 17,986

2017 2016

Note No. No.

Management (including executive directors) 3 3

Administration 12 10

15 13

2017 2016

€ €.

Directors’ emoluments 99,135 106,040

Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 6,750 17,986

105,885 124,026

During the financial year retirement benefits were accruing to no directors (2016 -NIL) in respect of defined contribution  
pension schemes.

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
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9. Tangible fixed assets

The net book value of land and buildings may be further analysed as follows:

10. Financial assets

National indoor training centre Equipment, fixtures & amp� fittings Total

€ € €

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2017 2,887,935 547,842 3,435,777

Additions - 9,024 9,024

At 31 December 2017 2,887,935 556,866 3,444,801

Depreciation

At 1 January 2017 1,488,176 447,191 1,935,367

Charge for the financial 
year on owned assets

116,647 25,312 141,959

At 31 December 2017 1,604,823 472,503 2,077,326

Net book value

At 31 December 2017 1,283,112 84,363 1,367,475

At 31 December 2016 1,399,759 100,651 1,500,410

2017 2016

Note € €

Freehold 1,283,112 1,399,759

1,283,112 1,399,759

Listed investments

Note €

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2017 962

At 31 December 2017 962

Net book value

At 31 December 2017 962

At 31 December 2016 962

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
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11. Stocks

12. Debtors

14. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

13. Cash and cash equivalents

2017 2016

Note € €

Finished goods and goods for resale 1,657 1,657

1,657 1,657

2017 2016

Note € €

Trade debtors 176,695 167,437

Other debtors 26,207 –

Prepayments and accrued income 36,868 835

239,770 168,272

2017 2016

Note € €

Trade creditors 174,527 73,072

Taxation and social insurance 26,950 3,835

Accruals 47,969 77,740

Deferred income 193,115 190,199

442,561 344,846

Other taxation and social insurance 2017 2016

Note € €

PAYE/PRSI control 26,950 3,835

26,950 3,835

2017 2016

Note € €

Cash at bank and in hand 585,562 586,319

585,562 586,319

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
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15. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

16. Financial instruments. Financial assets

2017 2016

Note € €

Government grants received 903,252 985,366

903,252 985,366

The capital grant was received from the Department of Arts, Sport and Tourism in relation to the building of the National Indoor 
Training Centre. The grant is deferred and recognised in the income statement over the useful life of the related asset. Under the 
grant agreement, the Minister for Arts, Sports and Tourism has a charge over the related assets of the company.

2017 2016

Note € €

Cash at bank 585,562 586,319

17. Reserves
Profit and loss account

Includes all current and prior period retained surplus’ and deficits.

18. Company status
The company is limited by guarantee and consequently does not have share capital. Each of the members is liable to contribute 
an amount not exceeding €1 towards the assets of the company in the event of liquidation.

19. Approval of financial statements
The board of directors approved these financial statements for issue on 18 May 2018

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
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Turnover

Detailed profit and loss account 

2017 2016

Note € €

Turnover 4 2,466,836 2,212,347

Gross profit 2,466,836 2,212,347

Other operating income - 41,071

Less: overheads

Administration expenses (2,544,630) (2,119,617)

Operating (loss)/profit (77,794) 133,801

(Loss)/Profit for the financial year (77,794) 133,801

2017 2016

Note € €

Club affiliation fees 81,451  71,832

Player capitation fees 550,378 508,060

Tournament permit fees 23,625 24,724

National training centre fees  248,425 260,847

Tournament Income 230,868 143,531

Sponsorship 95,744 84,615

Tournament capitation fees 99,860 98,478

Davis cup income 1,594  -

Development income 91,571 103,100

Coaching income 322,015 246,840

Court hire 23,933 23,318

Garda vetting 4,925 5,637

Sport Ireland Grant 555,834 532,730

Sports Northern Ireland 58,012 108,635

Enjoy tennis income 78,601  -

2017 2016

Note € €

Other operating income

Insurance claims receivable - 41,071

- 41,071

Detailed profit and loss account 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
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Administration expenses

2017 2016

Note € €

Directors national insurance 10,657 7,435

Directors salaries 99,135 106,040

Directors pension costs - defined contribution schemes 6,750 17,986

Salaries & other payments 475,852 448,798

Staff national insurance 76,331 45,645

Workshops/Committees 5,453 2,979

Travel and subsistence 55,399 51,933

Printing, postage and stationery 15,235 15,879

Telephone and fax 4,412 3,954

Legal Fees 29,894 18,088

Audit and accountancy 13,000 12,500

HR Fees 14,447 -

Professional Fees  28,663 8,923

Bank interest & charges 15,189 11,901

Increase in provision for bad debts 6,844 (24,054)

Sundry expenses (300) -

Rent and rates 53,763 50,473

Insurances 31,284 24,443

Computer costs 19,733 16,527

Depreciation - plant and machinery 141,959 174,320

Amortisation - intangible fixed asset (82,114) (82,114)

Affiliation fees 26,834 20,236

Board expenses 7,340 3,382

Match costs 293,371 208,136

Marketing and promotional costs 32,171 28,738

Development costs 737,717 569,609

Performance Costs 325,333 273,265

Parks tennis 74,540 80,541

Tournament software costs 25,738 24,054

2,544,630 2,119,617

Schedule to the detailed accounts (continued) 
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